Calculations Regarding Wild-Animal Suffering

by Brian Tomasik

First written: summer 2006; last update: 3 Aug. 2014

Abstract

Utilitarian animal welfarists generally assume that animal lives in the wild are worth living and that we ought to preserve the environment in order to make such lives possible. In this paper, I argue that the lives of most animals in the wild are not worth living and that habitat reduction may sometimes increase net wild-animal utility.

I first develop a model for the change in wild-animal expected aggregated utility that results from a given environmental impact. I then apply it to three scenarios and demonstrate that in most cases, environmental destruction has net benefits—even when the animals are mildly happy during most of their lives. (Specifically, in several of the examples, ecological demolition is good as long as the positive aggregated utility of living for a week is less than, roughly, $\frac{1}{3}$ to $\frac{1}{10}$ the magnitude of the pain of experiencing death.)

1 About this piece

I wrote this paper in summer 2006 at age 19, during the evenings and weekends while I was interning with my Congressman's office in Washington, DC. While I had been thinking about the problem of wild-animal suffering since learning that animals were sentient in summer 2005, this paper represented my first main attempt at calculating how anthropogenic environmental changes affect wild-animal suffering. Because this paper's formulas are hopelessly over-complicated and unrealistic, I later trimmed the excessive math and converted the piece into something more readable: [67].

Even when I wrote this piece, I knew that my mathematical modeling was probably more a fun exercise than a practical endpoint. I do appreciate the way in which my model highlights relevant variables to look out for. But its ecological assumptions are so simplified that my conclusions are unlikely to be terribly realistic. Often practical data invalidates what you thought would be the case using your model. Of course, data can be noisy too, so some balance between theory and data is best.

But if you're going to develop a model, you should make it simple. Probably the signal of what my formulas in this piece express could be mostly captured with a vastly more compact expression. Simplicity improves transparency and computational efficiency. Several simplified models making different assumptions would be much more informative than an ugly expression that no one can interpret, and using many models would help in analyzing sensitivity to specific assumptions.

I hope ecologists attempt more serious calculations of wild-animal suffering using standard ecological models. Consider this piece a baby shower for the field of welfare biology [53]. I feel that I've since developed more refined views on some of the issues discussed in this piece, as explained elsewhere on http://utilitarian-essays.com/.

The remainder of this article is my original text from 2006 with some modifications made on 3 Aug. 2014. I don't now agree with all the assumptions in this essay, but I've left most of them alone so that this piece can serve as a time capsule into history.

—Brian Tomasik, 3 Aug. 2014

Contents

1	About this piece	1	
2	Preface	3	
3	Introduction	4	
4	A Utilitarian Framework for Analysis		
5	A Discrete Model for the Impact of Environmental Changes on Animal Utilities	9	
6	Applications: A Preface	19	
7	Application 1: Asteroid Impact7.1Introduction7.2Plug and Chug7.3Results	20 20 21 22	
8	Application 2: Road Kill8.1Overview8.2Constant Carrying Capacity8.3Estimating k_1 :8.4Estimating h_1 :8.5Estimating ℓ_1 :8.6Plug and Chug8.7Results	 22 22 22 23 23 24 24 	

9	Арр	lication 3: Eating Meat	24				
	9.1	Factory-Farmed Animals: $\Delta U_1(I)$					
	9.2						
	9.3	Insects: $\Delta U_3(I)$	27				
		9.3.1 Estimating h_3 :	27				
		9.3.2 Estimating ℓ_3 :	27				
		9.3.3 Estimating k_3 :	28				
		9.3.4 Estimating c_3 :	28				
		9.3.5 When $\beta = 1$	29				
		9.3.6 When $\beta = 0.5$	29				
	9.4	Adding Them Up: $\Delta U(I) \equiv \Delta U_1(I) + \Delta U_2(I) + \Delta U_3(I) \dots$	30				
		9.4.1 Harmonization Assumptions	30				
		9.4.2 Results for $\beta = 1$	31				
		9.4.3 Results for $\beta = 0.5$	32				
10 Summary of Applications3211 Is Life in the Wild Miserable?33							
		A Neglected Topic	33				
	11.2	Life and Death in the Wild	33				
12	Obj	ections	34				
	12.1	"But I find life enjoyable!"	34				
		Nature as sacred	34				
		12.2.1 Creationism	34				
		12.2.2 General Intuition	35				
13	Spre	eading Suffering to the Stars	35				
	13.1	Terraforming	35				
		Directed Panspermia	36				
14	How	v Many Extraterrestrial Life-Years?	36				
15	Clos	sing Quotations:	38				

2 Preface

I write this paper in the spirit of exploration. I do not pretend to be an expert on any of the topics that I discuss, nor do I claim that my analysis is definitive. Rather, I hope to provoke discussion on what seem to me some highly important but largely overlooked issues.

If you would be a real seeker after truth, it is necessary that at least once in your life you doubt, as far as possible, all things.

—Rene Descartes [60]

3 Introduction

Most animal welfarists consider themselves environmentalists [50]. Many writers have pointed out the natural alliance that should exist between environmentalists and animal welfarists [38, 23]. Environmentalists should welcome the substantial ecological benefits of vegetarianism [49, 70, 21, 42], while animal welfarists should (it is assumed) support preservation of habitat for wild animals. And larger animal-welfare groups—despite some recurrent conflicts with environmentalists [48]—have helped to support environmental policies, including the California Desert Protection Act, the Endangered Species Act [50], and preservation of the Arctic National Wildlife Refuge [62].

Yet, many authors have noted a fundamental divide between the two camps. In a 1980 essay, J. Baird Callicott asserted that "the value commitments of the humane movement seem at bottom to betray a world-denying or rather a life-loathing philosophy" [12, p. 31]. If animal welfarists regret the violence and brutality of the natural world—so the argument goes—then they reject nature itself. Indeed, Ned Hettinger argues that "Respecting nature means respecting the ways in which nature trades values, and such respect includes painful killings for the purpose of life support" [28, pp. 13-14].

Usually, animal welfarists have responded that intervention in nature does not follow from moral concern for animals.¹ The *Animal Ethics Encyclopedia* has this to say:

The only way predation could stop is if humans killed off all predators. It may seem silly to want to kill off all predators, or even try. But up to the 1970's people were doing just this. Many populations of predators were trapped, poisoned or shot all over the world. Wolves, for instance were destroyed in the hundreds of thousands from almost all the US. [...]

So what happens when people kill off all predators. The numbers of prey animals increase dramatically in their absence. Huge numbers of prey animals eat all their food and then starve to death in the resulting famine. A few animals survive, however, and their population and vegetation recover. But then the cycle keeps repeating itself. So killing off predators increases suffering. [...]

[P]redation is actually necessary for life because nature can only work when one thing eats another. Nature is a cycle of life and death and we have no alternative but to accept that. [56]

Of course, we do have an alternative: reduce nature itself. None of these authors mentioned that possibility because they maintained the implicit assumption

¹There are some notable exceptions to this, such as [61, 52, 24, 14].

that, on balance, it's good for animals to live in the wild. In this paper, I question that assumption.

4 A Utilitarian Framework for Analysis

Definition: An organism $\omega(t)$ is any unified collection of matter that exists at time t. The set of all disjoint organisms at t is $\Omega(t)$.

Examples of organisms: Rocks, trees, camels, stars, computers, people, and bacteria.

Definition: $\Pi_{\omega(t)}$ is the probability that a given $\omega(t) \in \Omega(t)$ is sentient.

Examples:

- $\Pi_{\omega(t)} \approx 1$ for the following types of $\omega(t)$ s: people, monkeys, cows, chickens, blue jays, and (potentially) computers of the future [39].
- $\Pi_{\omega(t)} \approx 0$ for the following types of $\omega(t)$ s: amoebas, bacteria, trees, flowers, rocks, water molecules, air molecules, and computers of the present.

Definition: Aggregated utility, U, is the expected-value sum total of the utility in the universe over all time, where utility is counted equally regardless of which organism happens to experience it or when it happens to be experienced. The unit is the *util*.

$$U := \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{\omega(t) \in \Omega(t)} \Pi_{\omega(t)} u(\omega(t)) \right) dt,$$
(1)

where $u(\omega(t))$ is the utility that $\omega(t)$ would experience if it were sentient.

Assumption: U is finite. This assumption requires the following conditions, C:

- $C_1: \Pi_{\omega(t)} u(\omega(t))$ is never infinite,
- C_2 : $\Pi_{\omega(t)}u(\omega(t))$ is never nonzero for an infinite number of $\omega(t)$ s, and
- $C_3: \sum_{\omega(t)\in\Omega(t)} \prod_{\omega(t)} u(\omega(t))$ is never nonzero for an infinite time.

 C_1 is true so long as there's no such thing as an infinitely strong preference. C_2 and C_3 present more serious difficulties that will not be addressed here [8].

Definition: *Utilitarianism* is an ethical doctrine whose goal is to maximize *U*.

Definition: $_{I}$ refers to the state of the universe given a certain environmental impact I. $_{\neg I}$ refers to the counterfactual universe in which I didn't occur.

Examples: *I* might be, for instance,

- an asteroid impact
- slashing and burning of the rainforest
- farming on grassland.

Definition: The change in U that is due to I is simply

$$\Delta U(I) := U_I - U_{\neg I}. \tag{2}$$

Definition: (1) treated time as a continuous variable. Henceforth, however, I divide up time into discrete periods of equal length. I call these intervals "weeks," but really any intervals would do, and I'll change the units according to specific circumstances.

Definition: t = 0, also denoted by $_0$, represents the time when I begins. Thus, t = 1 or $_1$ represents something that happens one week after I.

Definition: t = T represents the time at which I ceases to impact U. By Assumption 3.1, T must be finite (for if it weren't, U_I and/or $U_{\neg I}$ would be infinite).

Definition: Let N be the component of U that is not affected by whether I or $\neg I$ is the case. N includes all utility that existed before I took place, as well as all utility that will exist after T. In fact, N includes at least all utility outside of I's future light cone up to T.

Definition: Let E be the component of U on which I does have an effect.

$$U_I \equiv N_I + E_I; U_{\neg I} \equiv N_{\neg I} + E_{\neg I}.$$
(3)

Identity: Since $N_I \equiv N_{\neg I}$, (2) becomes

$$\Delta U(I) \equiv E_I - E_{\neg I}.\tag{4}$$

Definition: A species σ is any arbitrary set of organisms.² Σ is the set of all species that have ever and will ever exist. Σ includes all species that would exist under I and under $\neg I$, so it's possible that not all of the members of Σ will actually have existed.

Example: Perhaps $\sigma_1 = \{\text{field mice}\}, \sigma_2 = \{\text{humans}\}, \text{ and } \sigma_3 = \{\text{Tyrannosaurus rex}\}. \Sigma = \{\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \sigma_3, \ldots\}.$

Definition: Only a subset of Σ will be affected by a given I.³ Moreover, I will not necessarily affect all of the members of every σ that is impacted. For each $\sigma \in \Sigma$, let $a \subseteq \sigma$ represent the set of only those members of σ that are affected by I. Similarly, let $A \subseteq \Sigma$ represent the set of only those species that are affected by I.

Definition: E_a is the component of E due to organisms in a. Thus,

$$E \equiv \sum_{a \in A} E_a.$$
 (5)

Definition: $E_a(t)$ is the component of E_a that the members of a experience at t.

$$E_a \equiv \sum_{t=0}^{T} E_a(t).$$
(6)

Definition: Divide $E_a(t)$ into three exhaustive components:

$$E_a(t) \equiv L_a(t) + D_a(t) + K_a(t). \tag{7}$$

• $L_a(t)$ represents the aggregated utility that the members of a experience due to regular living at t.

Essays on Reducing Suffering

 $^{^{2}}$ For convenience, we might say that, *e.g.*, elephants constitute one species while giraffes constitute another, but this classification is actually immaterial. Indeed, for some organisms (such as, potentially, sentient computers of the future), the standard biological definitions will no longer apply.

 $^{^{3}\}mathrm{The}$ dinosaurs, for instance, will not be affected by drilling in the Arctic National Wildlife Refuge.

- $D_a(t)$ is the (presumably negative) aggregated utility experienced by those members of a that die at t for any reason other than the direct impact of I.
- K_a(t) is the (presumably negative) aggregated utility experienced by those members of a that are killed directly by I at t. (K_a(t))_{¬I} := 0.

Example: Suppose that $a = \{\text{squirrels}\}$. *I* is a falling boulder that lands on top of several squirrels at t = 0, causing -500 utils. Another group of squirrels simultaneously dies of natural causes with pain of -700 utils. Here, $(K_a(0))_I = -500$ and $(D_a(0))_I = -700$.

If the boulder had not fallen, all of the squirrels that it crushed would have been eaten by a gnome at t = 0, with the same painfulness of death. Now,

$$(D_a(0))_{\neg I} = -500$$
 [from the gnome] +
- 700 [from the other squirrels that died]
= -1,200.

 $(K_a(0))_{\neg I} = 0$ because $(K_a(t))_{\neg I} := 0 \ \forall t.$

Definition: $p_a(t)$ represents the population of a at t.

Definition: $b_a(t)$ is the number of births of members of a at t. $d_a(t)$ is the number of deaths of members of a at t from any cause other than the direct impact of I. $k_a(t)$ is the number of members of a killed by the direct impact of I.

Definition:

$$\overline{L_{a}}(t) := \begin{cases} \frac{L_{a}(t)}{p_{a}(t)} & \text{if } p_{a}(t) \neq 0, \\ 0 & \text{if } p_{a}(t) = 0. \end{cases}$$

$$\overline{D_{a}}(t) := \begin{cases} \frac{D_{a}(t)}{d_{a}(t)} & \text{if } d_{a}(t) \neq 0, \\ 0 & \text{if } d_{a}(t) = 0. \end{cases}$$

$$\overline{K_{a}}(t) := \begin{cases} \frac{K_{a}(t)}{k_{a}(t)} & \text{if } k_{a}(t) \neq 0, \\ 0 & \text{if } k_{a}(t) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(8)

By definition of $(K_a(t))_{\neg I}, (\overline{K_a}(t))_{\neg I} \equiv 0.$

Assumption 3.2: $\overline{L_a}(t), \overline{D_a}(t)$, and $\overline{K_a}(t)$ are constant functions of t. That is, $\forall t, \overline{L_a}(t) = \overline{L_a}, \overline{D_a}(t) = \overline{D_a}$, and $\overline{K_a}(t) = \overline{K_a}$.

Identity: Combining (6), (7), and (8),

$$E_a \equiv \sum_{t=0}^{T} \left(\overline{L_a} p_a(t) + \overline{D_a} d_a(t) + \overline{K_a} k_a(t) \right).$$
(9)

Identity: Combining (4), (5), and (9),

$$\Delta U(I) \equiv \left(\sum_{a \in A} \left(\sum_{t=0}^{T} \left(\overline{L_a} p_a(t) + \overline{D_a} d_a(t) + \overline{K_a} k_a(t) \right) \right) \right)_{I} - \left(\sum_{a \in A} \left(\sum_{t=0}^{T} \left(\overline{L_a} p_a(t) + \overline{D_a} d_a(t) \right) \right) \right)_{\neg I} \right)_{I}.$$
(10)

5 A Discrete Model for the Impact of Environmental Changes on Animal Utilities

(10) is true merely by definition. It is general enough that it can describe the change in U that results from *any* event affecting *any* population whatsoever. In this section, I introduce assumptions to make the model more specific for wild animals.

Identity: By the definitions of $b_a(t)$, $d_a(t)$, and $k_a(t)$,

$$p_a(t+1) \equiv p_a(t) + b_a(t) - d_a(t) - k_a(t).$$
(11)

Assumption 4.1: The rate of births is proportional to population size, excluding those members of the population that are being killed at t:

$$b_a(t) = f_a \left(p_a(t) - k_a(t) \right) \tag{12}$$

for some constant f_a .

Assumption 4.2: The rate of natural deaths is partially proportional to population size, excluding those members of the population that are already being killed by I. It is also partially proportional to the difference between the current population size and the carrying capacity c(t) of the habitat at t. Thus,

$$d_a(t) = g_a(p_a(t) - k_a(t)) + h_a(p_a(t) - c_a(t))$$
(13)

for some constants g_a and h_a . When the population is below its carrying capacity, resources are more plentiful and fewer young animals die from scarcity. Presumably $0 < g_a < 1$ and $0 < h_a < 1$.

Assumption 4.3: When *a* is at its carrying capacity, and when no members of *a* are being directly killed by *I*, the population is in equilibrium. That is, when $p_a(t) = c_a(t) \neq 0$ and $k_a(t) = 0$, $p_a(t+1) = p_a(t)$.

Equation: By (11), (12), and (13), $f_a = g_a$ under the conditions of the Assumption 4.3. But since f_a and g_a are constants, f_a always equals g_a , and (11) reduces to

$$p_a(t+1) = p_a(t) + h_a(c_a(t) - p_a(t)) - k_a(t).$$
(14)

Definition: The average lifespan of the members of a is denoted ℓ_a .

Rule: If a population is in equilibrium at t and the rate of deaths at t is constant, then the rate of deaths at t equals $\frac{p_a(t)}{\ell_a}$. To see this, imagine that every member of the population had the exact lifespan ℓ_a . Suppose that a new member of a is born at t, when the population is $p_a(t)$. That member will die in ℓ_a years, at which time exactly all of the $p_a(t)$ members of a that existed before will have died. So $p_a(t)$ members of a die in ℓ_a time units, and since the death rate is constant, it equals $\frac{p_a(t)}{\ell_a}$.

When the conditions of Assumption 4.3 hold, the population is in equilibrium and, by (13), the rate of deaths is constant. Thus,

$$\begin{aligned} d_a(t) &= g_a p_a(t) \quad \text{[by (13) under the conditions of Assumption 4.3]} \\ &= \frac{p_a(t)}{\ell_a} \quad \text{[by the Rule]}, \\ &\text{ so that } g_a = \frac{1}{\ell_a}. \ \blacksquare \end{aligned}$$

Equation: Returning to (9), we can substitute in (13):

$$E_{a} = \sum_{t=0}^{T} \left(\overline{L_{a}} p_{a}(t) + \overline{D_{a}} \left(\frac{1}{\ell_{a}} \left(p_{a}(t) - k_{a}(t) \right) + h_{a} \left(p_{a}(t) - c_{a}(t) \right) \right) + \overline{K_{a}} k_{a}(t) \right)$$

$$\equiv \sum_{t=0}^{T} \left(p_{a}(t) \left(\overline{L_{a}} + \left(\frac{1}{\ell_{a}} + h_{a} \right) \overline{D_{a}} \right) - c_{a}(t) h_{a} \overline{D_{a}} + k_{a}(t) \left(\overline{K_{a}} - \frac{1}{\ell_{a}} \overline{D_{a}} \right) \right)$$

$$\equiv \left(\overline{L_{a}} + \left(\frac{1}{\ell_{a}} + h_{a} \right) \overline{D_{a}} \right) \sum_{t=0}^{T} p_{a}(t) - h_{a} \overline{D_{a}} \sum_{t=0}^{T} c_{a}(t) + \left(\overline{K_{a}} - \frac{1}{\ell_{a}} \overline{D_{a}} \right) \sum_{t=0}^{T} k_{a}(t).$$
(15)

Essays on Reducing Suffering

Formula:

$$\forall t \in \mathbb{N}, \ p_a(t) = (1 - h_a)^t p_a(0) + h_a \mathcal{C}_a(t) - \mathcal{K}_a(t),$$

where $\mathcal{C}_a(t) := \begin{cases} \sum_{i=0}^{t-1} (c_a(i)(1 - h_a)^{(t-1)-i}) & \text{when } t > 0, \\ 0 & \text{when } t = 0, \end{cases}$ (16)
and $\mathcal{K}_a(t) := \begin{cases} \sum_{j=0}^{t-1} (k_a(j)(1 - h_a)^{(t-1)-j}) & \text{when } t > 0, \\ 0 & \text{when } t = 0. \end{cases}$

Proof: Proceed by induction.

- Basis steps. When t = 0, the left and right sides of (16) both reduce to $p_a(0)$. Similarly, when t = 1, (16) gives the same result as does (14) for p(t+1) = p(1).
- Induction hypothesis. Suppose (16) is true for all $t \ge 1$ up to some fixed n.
- Induction step.

$$p_{a}(n+1) = p_{a}(n) + h_{a}(c_{a}(n) - p_{a}(n)) - k_{a}(n) \text{ [by (14)]}$$

$$\equiv (1 - h_{a})p_{a}(n) + h_{a}c_{a}(n) - k_{a}(n)$$

$$= (1 - h_{a})((1 - h_{a})^{n}p_{a}(0) + h_{a}\mathcal{C}_{a}(n) - \mathcal{K}_{a}(n)) + h_{a}c_{a}(n) - k_{a}(n)$$
[by the induction hypothesis]
$$\equiv (1 - h_{a})^{n+1}p_{a}(0) + h_{a}(1 - h_{a})\mathcal{C}_{a}(n) - (1 - h_{a})\mathcal{K}_{a}(n) + h_{a}c_{a}(n) - k_{a}(n)$$

$$\equiv (1 - h_{a})^{n+1}p_{a}(0) + h_{a}(1 - h_{a})\sum_{i=0}^{n-1} (c_{a}(i)(1 - h_{a})^{(n-1)-i})$$

$$- (1 - h_{a})\sum_{j=0}^{n-1} (k_{a}(j)(1 - h_{a})^{(n-1)-j}) + h_{a}c_{a}(n) - k_{a}(n)$$
[these substitutions for $\mathcal{C}_{a}(n)$ and $\mathcal{K}_{a}(n)$ are locitimate because $n \geq 1$].

[these substitutions for $C_a(n)$ and $\mathcal{K}_a(n)$ are legitimate because $n \geq 1$]

$$= (1 - h_a)^{n+1} p_a(0) + h_a \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \left(c_a(i)(1 - h_a)^{n-i} \right)$$

- $\sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \left(k_a(j)(1 - h_a)^{n-j} \right) + h_a c_a(n) - k_a(n)$
= $(1 - h_a)^{n+1} p_a(0) + h_a \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \left(c_a(i)(1 - h_a)^{n-i} \right)$
- $\sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \left(k_a(j)(1 - h_a)^{n-j} \right) + h_a c_a(n)(1 - h_a)^{n-n} - k_a(n)(1 - h_a)^{n-n}$
[$(1 - h_a)^{n-n} = 1$; since $h_a \neq 1$ by Assumption 4.2, this will not yield 0^0 , which is undefined]

$$\equiv (1 - h_a)^{n+1} p_a(0) + h_a \sum_{i=0}^n \left(c_a(i)(1 - h_a)^{n-i} \right) - \sum_{j=0}^n \left(k_a(j)(1 - h_a)^{n-j} \right)$$

$$\equiv (1 - h_a)^{n+1} p_a(0) + h_a \mathcal{C}_a(n+1) - \mathcal{K}_a(n+1). \blacksquare$$

Formula: For any geometric series $S := \sum_{u=x}^{y} r^{u}$ with $x, y, r \in \mathbb{R}$ and y = k + x for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$S = \begin{cases} \frac{r^{x} - r^{y+1}}{1 - r} & \text{when } r \neq 1 \text{ and also } r \neq 0 \text{ with } x \leq 0, \\ y - x + 1 & \text{when } r = 1, \\ \text{complex} & \text{when } r < 0, \text{ and } x \text{ and/or } y \notin \mathbb{Z}, \\ \text{undefined} & \text{when } r = 0, \text{ and } x \leq 0. \end{cases}$$
(17)

Proof: I prove only the first case.

$$S := r^{x} + r^{x+1} + r^{x+2} + \dots + r^{y}.$$

$$rS \equiv r^{x+1} + r^{x+2} + \dots + r^{y} + r^{y+1}.$$

$$S - rS \equiv r^{x} - r^{y+1}.$$

$$S \equiv \frac{r^{x} - r^{y+1}}{1 - r}. \blacksquare$$

Equation:

$$\sum_{t=0}^{T} p_a(t) = p_a(0) \sum_{t=0}^{T} (1 - h_a)^t + h_a \sum_{t=0}^{T} \mathcal{C}_a(t) - \sum_{t=0}^{T} \mathcal{K}_a(t) \quad [by \ (16)]$$
$$\equiv p_a(0) \frac{1 - (1 - h_a)^{T+1}}{h_a} + h_a \sum_{t=0}^{T} \mathcal{C}_a(t) - \sum_{t=0}^{T} \mathcal{K}_a(t)$$
$$[ucing \ (17) \text{ with } r = 1 \quad h \quad r = 0 \text{ and } u = T;$$

[using (17) with $r = 1 - h_a$, x = 0, and y = T;

Assumption 4.2 assures that r is well behaved (i.e., not 0 or 1)]

$$= p_{a}(0) \frac{1 - (1 - h_{a})^{T+1}}{h_{a}} + h_{a} \sum_{t=1}^{T} C_{a}(t) - \sum_{t=1}^{T} \mathcal{K}_{a}(t)$$
[since $C_{a}(0) := 0$ and $\mathcal{K}_{a}(0) := 0$]
$$= p_{a}(0) \frac{1 - (1 - h_{a})^{T+1}}{h_{a}} + h_{a} \sum_{t=1}^{T} \sum_{i=0}^{t-1} \left(c_{a}(i)(1 - h_{a})^{(t-1)-i} \right)$$

$$- \sum_{t=1}^{T} \sum_{j=0}^{t-1} \left(k_{a}(j)(1 - h_{a})^{(t-1)-j} \right)$$
[by definition of $C_{a}(t)$ and $\mathcal{K}_{a}(t)$ for $t > 0$]. (18)

Definition: $c_a(t)$ changes v times between t = 1 and t = T. (Thus, there are v + 1 different values of $c_a(t)$ in that period.) The value of t at which the θ th change of $c_a(t)$ occurs is denoted τ_{θ} . τ_0 is the time when t = 1. $\tau_{v+1} := T$.

Example: $a = \{$ tortoises that live on a single island $\}$. *I* represents the arrival of a vast number of tourists who set up tents all over the island, thereby covering up valuable food and space. The island's carrying capacity is reduced to 200. After 6 weeks, the tourists all leave, taking their tents with them. Now the island can hold 600 tortises. The tortoises take 78 weeks days to recover, after which they're back to business as usual. In this example, $v = 1, \tau_0 = 1, \tau_1 = 6, \tau_2 := T = 78, c_a(\tau_0) = 200$, and $c_a(\tau_1) = 600$.

Essays on Reducing Suffering

Definition: $k_a(t)$ changes w times between t = 1 and t = T. The value of t at which the ϕ th change of $k_a(t)$ occurs is denoted τ_{ϕ} . τ_0 is the time when t = 1. $\tau_{w+1} := T$.

Identities:

$$\begin{aligned} h_{a} \sum_{t=1}^{T} \sum_{i=0}^{t-1} \left(c_{a}(i)(1-h_{a})^{(t-1)-i} \right) \\ &\equiv h_{a} \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \sum_{t=\tau_{\theta}}^{\tau_{\theta+1}-1} \sum_{i=0}^{t-1} \left(c_{a}(i)(1-h_{a})^{(t-1)-i} \right) \\ &\equiv h_{a} \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta}) \sum_{t=\tau_{\theta}}^{\tau_{\theta+1}-1} \sum_{i=0}^{t-1} (1-h_{a})^{(t-1)-i} \right) \\ &[c_{a}(t) \text{ is constant from } t = \tau_{\theta} \text{ to } t = \tau_{\theta+1} - 1] \\ &\equiv h_{a} \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta}) \sum_{t=\tau_{\theta}}^{\tau_{\theta+1}-1} \left((1-h_{a})^{t-1} \sum_{i=0}^{t-1} \left(\frac{1}{1-h_{a}} \right)^{i} \right) \right) \right) \\ &= h_{a} \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta}) \sum_{t=\tau_{\theta}}^{\tau_{\theta+1}-1} \left((1-h_{a})^{t-1} \left(\frac{1-(\frac{1}{1-h_{a}})^{t}}{1-(\frac{1}{1-h_{a}}} \right)^{t} \right) \right) \right) \\ &[using (17) \text{ with } r = \frac{1}{1-h_{a}}, x = 0, \text{ and } y = t-1; \\ &\text{Assumption 4.2 assures that } r \text{ is not 0 or 1]} \\ &\equiv h_{a} \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta}) \sum_{t=\tau_{\theta}}^{\tau_{\theta+1}-1} \left(\left(1-(1-h_{a})^{t-1} \left(\frac{(\frac{1}{1-h_{a}})^{t-1} + h_{a} - 1}{h_{a}} \right) \right) \right) \right) \\ &\equiv h_{a} \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta}) \sum_{t=\tau_{\theta}}^{\tau_{\theta+1}-1} \left(1-(1-h_{a})^{t} \right) \right) \\ &\equiv h_{a} \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta}) \sum_{t=\tau_{\theta}}^{\tau_{\theta+1}-1} \left(1-(1-h_{a})^{t} \right) \right) \\ &\equiv \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta}) \left(\sum_{t=\tau_{\theta}}^{\tau_{\theta+1}-1} \left(1-(1-h_{a})^{t} \right) \right) \\ &\equiv \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta}) \left(\sum_{t=\tau_{\theta}}^{\tau_{\theta+1}-1} \left(1-(1-h_{a})^{t} \right) \right) \\ &\equiv \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta}) \left(\sum_{t=\tau_{\theta}}^{\tau_{\theta+1}-1} \left(1-(1-h_{a})^{t} \right) \right) \\ &\equiv \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta}) \left(\sum_{t=\tau_{\theta}}^{\tau_{\theta+1}-1} \left(1-(1-h_{a})^{t} \right) \right) \right) \\ &\equiv \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta}) \left(\left(\tau_{\theta+1} - \tau_{\theta} \right) - \left(\frac{(1-h_{a})^{\tau_{\theta}} - (1-h_{a})^{\tau_{\theta+1}} - 1}{h_{a}} \right) \right) \right) \\ &= \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta}) \left(\left(\tau_{\theta+1} - \tau_{\theta} \right) - \left(\frac{(1-h_{a})^{\tau_{\theta}} - (1-h_{a})^{\tau_{\theta+1}} - 1}{h_{a}} \right) \right) \right) \\ &= \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta}) \left(\left(\tau_{\theta+1} - \tau_{\theta} \right) - \left(\frac{(1-h_{a})^{\tau_{\theta}} - (1-h_{a})^{\tau_{\theta+1}} - 1}{h_{a}} \right) \right) \right) \\ \\ &= \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta}) \left(\left(\tau_{\theta+1} - \tau_{\theta} \right) - \left(\frac{(1-h_{a})^{\tau_{\theta}} - (1-h_{a})^{\tau_{\theta+1}} - 1 \right) \right) \\ \\ &= \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta}) \left(\left(\tau_{\theta+1} - \tau_{\theta} \right) - \left(\frac{(1-h_{a})^{\tau_{\theta}} - (1-h_{a})^{\tau_{\theta}} - 1 \right) \right) \\ \\ &= \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta}) \left($$

Assumption 4.2 assures that r is not 0 or 1].

By analogous reasoning,

$$-\sum_{t=1}^{T}\sum_{j=0}^{t-1} \left(k_a(j)(1-h_a)^{(t-1)-j}\right)$$

$$\equiv -\frac{1}{h_a}\sum_{\phi=0}^{w} \left(k_a(\tau_{\phi})\left((\tau_{\phi+1}-\tau_{\phi})-\left(\frac{(1-h_a)^{\tau_{\phi}}-(1-h_a)^{\tau_{\phi+1}}}{h_a}\right)\right)\right).$$
(20)

Equations: Combining (18), (19), and (20),

$$\sum_{t=0}^{T} p_{a}(t) = \frac{1}{h_{a}} p_{a}(0) - \frac{1}{h_{a}} p_{a}(0)(1-h_{a})^{T+1} + \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta}) \left((\tau_{\theta+1} - \tau_{\theta}) - \left(\frac{(1-h_{a})^{\tau_{\theta}} - (1-h_{a})^{\tau_{\theta+1}}}{h_{a}} \right) \right) \right) - \frac{1}{h_{a}} \sum_{\phi=0}^{w} \left(k_{a}(\tau_{\phi}) \left((\tau_{\phi+1} - \tau_{\phi}) - \left(\frac{(1-h_{a})^{\tau_{\phi}} - (1-h_{a})^{\tau_{\phi+1}}}{h_{a}} \right) \right) \right).$$

$$(21)$$

I enter (21) into (15):

$$\begin{split} E_{a} &= \left(\overline{L_{a}} + \left(\frac{1}{\ell_{a}} + h_{a}\right)\overline{D_{a}}\right) \left[\frac{1}{h_{a}}p_{a}(0) - \frac{1}{h_{a}}p_{a}(0)(1 - h_{a})^{T+1} \\ &+ \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta}) \left((\tau_{\theta+1} - \tau_{\theta}) - \left(\frac{(1 - h_{a})^{\tau_{\theta}} - (1 - h_{a})^{\tau_{\theta+1}}}{h_{a}}\right)\right)\right)\right) \\ &- \frac{1}{h_{a}} \sum_{\phi=0}^{w} \left(k_{a}(\tau_{\phi}) \left((\tau_{\phi+1} - \tau_{\phi}) - \left(\frac{(1 - h_{a})^{\tau_{\phi}} - (1 - h_{a})^{\tau_{\phi+1}}}{h_{a}}\right)\right)\right)\right) \\ &- h_{a}\overline{D_{a}} \sum_{t=0}^{T} c_{a}(t) + (\overline{K_{a}} - \frac{1}{\ell_{a}}\overline{D_{a}}) \sum_{t=0}^{T} k_{a}(t) \\ &= \left(\overline{L_{a}} + \left(\frac{1}{\ell_{a}} + h_{a}\right)\overline{D_{a}}\right) \left[\frac{1}{h_{a}}p_{a}(0) - \frac{1}{h_{a}}p_{a}(0)(1 - h_{a})^{T+1} \\ &+ \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta}) \left((\tau_{\theta+1} - \tau_{\theta}) - \left(\frac{(1 - h_{a})^{\tau_{\theta}} - (1 - h_{a})^{\tau_{\theta+1}}}{h_{a}}\right)\right)\right)\right) \\ &- \frac{1}{h_{a}} \sum_{\phi=0}^{w} \left(k_{a}(\tau_{\phi}) \left((\tau_{\phi+1} - \tau_{\phi}) - \left(\frac{(1 - h_{a})^{\tau_{\phi}} - (1 - h_{a})^{\tau_{\phi+1}}}{h_{a}}\right)\right)\right)\right) \\ &- h_{a}\overline{D_{a}} \left[c_{a}(0) + \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta}) \sum_{t=\tau_{\theta}}^{\tau_{\theta+1}-1} 1\right)\right] + \left(\overline{K_{a}} - \frac{1}{\ell_{a}}\overline{D_{a}}\right) \left[k_{a}(0) + \sum_{\phi=0}^{w} \left(k_{a}(\tau_{\phi}) \sum_{t=\tau_{\phi}}^{\tau_{\phi+1}-1} 1\right)\right) \\ & \text{[the extra } c_{a}(0) \text{ and } k_{a}(0) \text{ terms come from the fact that } \tau_{0} := 1, \text{ not } 0] \end{split}$$

$$= \left(\overline{L_{a}} + (\frac{1}{\ell_{a}} + h_{a})\overline{D_{a}}\right) \left[\frac{1}{h_{a}}p_{a}(0) - \frac{1}{h_{a}}p_{a}(0)(1 - h_{a})^{T+1} + \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta})\left((\tau_{\theta+1} - \tau_{\theta}) - \left(\frac{(1 - h_{a})^{\tau_{\theta}} - (1 - h_{a})^{\tau_{\theta+1}}}{h_{a}}\right)\right)\right)\right) - \frac{1}{h_{a}}\sum_{\phi=0}^{w} \left(k_{a}(\tau_{\phi})\left((\tau_{\phi+1} - \tau_{\phi}) - \left(\frac{(1 - h_{a})^{\tau_{\phi}} - (1 - h_{a})^{\tau_{\phi+1}}}{h_{a}}\right)\right)\right)\right) - h_{a}\overline{D_{a}}c_{a}(0) - h_{a}\overline{D_{a}}\sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta})(\tau_{\theta+1} - \tau_{\theta})\right) + \left(\overline{K_{a}} - \frac{1}{\ell_{a}}\overline{D_{a}}\right)k_{a}(0) + \left(\overline{K_{a}} - \frac{1}{\ell_{a}}\overline{D_{a}}\right)\sum_{\phi=0}^{w} \left(k_{a}(\tau_{\phi})(\tau_{\phi+1} - \tau_{\phi})\right)$$

$$(22)$$

$$\begin{split} &= \Big(\frac{\overline{L_a} + (\frac{1}{\ell_a} + h_a)\overline{D_a}}{h_a}\Big) \bigg[p_a(0) - p_a(0)(1 - h_a)^{T+1} - \sum_{\theta=0}^v \bigg(c_a(\tau_\theta) \Big((1 - h_a)^{\tau_\theta} - (1 - h_a)^{\tau_{\theta+1}} \Big) \bigg) \bigg) \\ &+ \frac{1}{h_a} \sum_{\phi=0}^w \bigg(k_a(\tau_\phi) \Big((1 - h_a)^{\tau_\phi} - (1 - h_a)^{\tau_{\phi+1}} \Big) \Big) \bigg] \\ &- h_a \overline{D_a} c_a(0) + (\overline{L_a} + \frac{1}{\ell_a} \overline{D_a}) \sum_{\theta=0}^v \Big(c_a(\tau_\theta) \big(\tau_{\theta+1} - \tau_\theta \big) \Big) \\ &+ (\overline{K_a} - \frac{1}{\ell_a} \overline{D_a}) k_a(0) + \Big(\overline{K_a} - \frac{1}{\ell_a} \overline{D_a} - \frac{\overline{L_a}}{h_a} - \frac{1}{\ell_a} \overline{D_a} \Big) \sum_{\phi=0}^w \Big(k_a(\tau_\phi) \big(\tau_{\phi+1} - \tau_\phi \big) \Big) \end{split}$$

Substituting (22) into (5),

$$E = \sum_{a \in A} \left[\left(\frac{\overline{L_a} + (\frac{1}{\ell_a} + h_a)\overline{D_a}}{h_a} \right) \left[p_a(0) - p_a(0)(1 - h_a)^{T+1} - \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_a(\tau_{\theta}) \left((1 - h_a)^{\tau_{\theta}} - (1 - h_a)^{\tau_{\theta+1}} \right) \right) + \frac{1}{h_a} \sum_{\phi=0}^{w} \left(k_a(\tau_{\phi}) \left((1 - h_a)^{\tau_{\phi}} - (1 - h_a)^{\tau_{\phi+1}} \right) \right) \right] - h_a \overline{D_a} c_a(0) + (\overline{L_a} + \frac{1}{\ell_a} \overline{D_a}) \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_a(\tau_{\theta}) \left(\tau_{\theta+1} - \tau_{\theta} \right) \right) + (\overline{K_a} - \frac{1}{\ell_a} \overline{D_a}) k_a(0) + \left(\overline{K_a} - \frac{1}{\ell_a} \overline{D_a} - \frac{\overline{L_a}}{h_a} - \frac{1}{\ell_a} \overline{D_a} - \overline{D_a} \right) \sum_{\phi=0}^{w} \left(k_a(\tau_{\phi}) \left(\tau_{\phi+1} - \tau_{\phi} \right) \right) \right].$$
(23)

Finally, I add (23) to (4), noting that under $\neg I, k_a(t) := 0 \ \forall t \in \mathbb{N}$:

$$\begin{split} \Delta U(I) &= \left[\sum_{a \in A} \left[\left(\frac{\overline{L_a} + \left(\frac{1}{\ell_a} + h_a\right)\overline{D_a}}{h_a} \right) \left[p_a(0) - p_a(0)(1 - h_a)^{T+1} \right. \\ &- \sum_{\theta=0}^v \left(c_a(\tau_{\theta}) \left((1 - h_a)^{\tau_{\theta}} - (1 - h_a)^{\tau_{\theta+1}} \right) \right) + \frac{1}{h_a} \sum_{\phi=0}^w \left(k_a(\tau_{\phi}) \left((1 - h_a)^{\tau_{\phi}} - (1 - h_a)^{\tau_{\phi+1}} \right) \right) \right] \right] \\ &- h_a \overline{D_a} c_a(0) + \left(\overline{L_a} + \frac{1}{\ell_a} \overline{D_a}\right) \sum_{\theta=0}^v \left(c_a(\tau_{\theta}) \left(\tau_{\theta+1} - \tau_{\theta} \right) \right) \\ &+ \left(\overline{K_a} - \frac{1}{\ell_a} \overline{D_a}\right) k_a(0) + \left(\overline{K_a} - \frac{1}{\ell_a} \overline{D_a} - \frac{\overline{L_a}}{h_a} - \frac{1}{\ell_a} \overline{D_a}}{h_a} - \overline{D_a} \right) \sum_{\phi=0}^w \left(k_a(\tau_{\phi}) \left(\tau_{\phi+1} - \tau_{\phi} \right) \right) \right] \right]_I \\ &- \left[\sum_{a \in A} \left[\left(\frac{\overline{L_a} + \left(\frac{1}{\ell_a} + h_a\right) \overline{D_a}}{h_a} \right) \left[p_a(0) - p_a(0)(1 - h_a)^{T+1} \right] \\ &- \left[\sum_{\theta=0}^v \left(c_a(\tau_{\theta}) \left((1 - h_a)^{\tau_{\theta}} - (1 - h_a)^{\tau_{\theta+1}} \right) \right) \right] \right] \\ &- h_a \overline{D_a} c_a(0) + \left(\overline{L_a} + \frac{1}{\ell_a} \overline{D_a}\right) \sum_{\theta=0}^v \left(c_a(\tau_{\theta}) \left(\tau_{\theta+1} - \tau_{\theta} \right) \right) \right]_{\neg I}. \end{split}$$

$$\tag{24}$$

Regardless of what happens after I, it's clear that the initial (t = 0) populations of the members of A have to be the same. Since h_a and T are also identical under I or $\neg I$, the two appearances of the term $\left[\left(\frac{\overline{L_a} + (\frac{1}{\ell_a} + h_a)\overline{D_a}}{h_a}\right)\left[p_a(0) - p_a(0)(1 - p_a(0))\right]\right]$

 $\begin{aligned} h_{a})^{T+1} \end{bmatrix} drop \text{ out of } (24), \text{ leaving:} \\ \Delta U(I) &= \left[\sum_{a \in A} \left[\left(\frac{\overline{L_{a}} + \left(\frac{1}{\ell_{a}} + h_{a} \right) \overline{D_{a}}}{h_{a}} \right) \left[- \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta}) \left((1 - h_{a})^{\tau_{\theta}} - (1 - h_{a})^{\tau_{\theta+1}} \right) \right) \right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{h_{a}} \sum_{\phi=0}^{w} \left(k_{a}(\tau_{\phi}) \left((1 - h_{a})^{\tau_{\phi}} - (1 - h_{a})^{\tau_{\phi+1}} \right) \right) \right] \\ &- h_{a} \overline{D_{a}} c_{a}(0) + \left(\overline{L_{a}} + \frac{1}{\ell_{a}} \overline{D_{a}} \right) \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta}) \left(\tau_{\theta+1} - \tau_{\theta} \right) \right) \\ &+ \left(\overline{K_{a}} - \frac{1}{\ell_{a}} \overline{D_{a}} \right) k_{a}(0) + \left(\overline{K_{a}} - \frac{1}{\ell_{a}} \overline{D_{a}} - \frac{\overline{L_{a}}}{h_{a}} - \frac{1}{h_{a}} \overline{D_{a}} \right) \sum_{\phi=0}^{w} \left(k_{a}(\tau_{\phi}) \left(\tau_{\phi+1} - \tau_{\phi} \right) \right) \right] \right]_{I} \\ &+ \left[\sum_{a \in A} \left[\left(\frac{\overline{L_{a}} + \left(\frac{1}{\ell_{a}} + h_{a} \right) \overline{D_{a}}}{h_{a}} \right) \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta}) \left((1 - h_{a})^{\tau_{\theta}} - (1 - h_{a})^{\tau_{\theta+1}} \right) \right) \right) \\ &+ h_{a} \overline{D_{a}} c_{a}(0) - \left(\overline{L_{a}} + \frac{1}{\ell_{a}} \overline{D_{a}} \right) \sum_{\theta=0}^{v} \left(c_{a}(\tau_{\theta}) \left(\tau_{\theta+1} - \tau_{\theta} \right) \right) \right] \right]_{\neg I}. \end{aligned}$ (25)

6 Applications: A Preface

In the following 3 sections, I apply (25) to situations that reflect different types of environmental damage. First, however, I discuss some assumptions and definitions.

Assumption 4.4: $(\overline{L_a})_I = (\overline{L_a})_{\neg I}, (\overline{D_a})_I = (\overline{D_a})_{\neg I}, \text{ and } (\overline{K_a})_I = (\overline{K_a})_{\neg I}.$ This assumption is not necessary in order to use (25), but I maintain it in all of the applications that follow.

Assumption 4.5: $\overline{D_a} < 0$ and $\overline{K_a} < 0$ for any *a*. Again, (25) does not depend on assuming this; it is merely more convenient (and no less accurate) to do so.

Definition: The following is what I refer to as the "harmonization procedure." Suppose we enter into (25) all parameters except $\overline{L_a}$, $\overline{D_a}$, and $\overline{K_a}$, and we end up with this equation:

$$\Delta U(I) = -9\overline{L_1} - 30\overline{L_2} - 6\overline{D_1} - 3\overline{D_2} + 5\overline{K_2}.$$
(26)

To simplify further, it's easiest just to reexpress some of the parameters in terms of the others. For instance, perhaps we can say that, in general, living for a unit time as species 2 is only half as intense as living for a unit time as species 1: $\overline{L_2} = \frac{1}{2}\overline{L_1}$. Maybe we could also say that the pain of dying is the same for 1 and 2 $[\overline{D_1} = \overline{D_2}]$, while the pain of being killed directly by I is only $\frac{3}{5}$ as bad as dying naturally $[\overline{K_2} = \frac{3}{5}\overline{D_2} = \frac{3}{5}\overline{D_1}]$. Now,

$$\Delta U(I) = -9\overline{L_1} - 15\overline{L_1} - 6\overline{D_1} - 3\overline{D_1} + 3\overline{D_1}$$

= $-24\overline{L_1} - 6\overline{D_1}.$ (27)

Definition:

$$\gamma_a := \frac{\overline{L_a}}{|\overline{D_a}|} = -\frac{\overline{L_a}}{\overline{D_a}} \quad \text{[since } \overline{D_a} < 0 \text{ by Assumption 4.5]}, \tag{28}$$

or, if only $\overline{L_a}$ and $\overline{K_a}$ remain in the equation,

$$\gamma_a := \frac{\overline{L_a}}{|\overline{K_a}|} = -\frac{\overline{L_a}}{\overline{K_a}} \quad [\text{since } \overline{K_a} < 0 \text{ by Assumption 4.5}]. \tag{29}$$

Now (27) becomes

$$\Delta U(I) = (24\gamma_1 - 6)\overline{D_1}.$$
(30)

Suppose we want to answer the question, When does I make a net positive impact? That is, when is $\Delta U(I) > 0$? Since $\overline{D_1} < 0$, $\Delta U(I) > 0 \Leftrightarrow 24\gamma_1 - 6 < 0 \Leftrightarrow \gamma_1 < \frac{1}{4}$.

Note: In what follows, I have not adhered to the rules of significant figures. Inasmuch as many of my numbers are made up entirely (so that not even the *first* digit is necessarily accurate), I did not find it necessary to do so.

7 Application 1: Asteroid Impact

7.1 Introduction

Suppose the planet Ybux is inhabited solely by the Wibbles—creatures that are "three foot tall, [and have] long brown shaggy fur, three eyes (one in back of head, two in front), three dear little legs, a beak, and a ten-foot long retractable green tentacle coming out the top of the head" [29]. $[a = \{\text{Wibbles on Ybux}\}\}$.] The scarce resources of Ybux allow for a carrying capacity of only 500 $[(c_a(t))_{\neg I} = 500 \forall t \in \{1, 2, ..., T\}]$. Wibbles have an average lifespan between 2 and 12 years [assume it's 5, so that $\frac{1}{\ell_a} = 0.2$].

At t = 0, an asteroid [event I] smashes into Ybux, landing on top of 50 Wibbles $[k_a(0) = 50]$. The asteroid impact sends up a cloud of debris so massive that all star light to Ybux is blocked, and the planet's carrying capacity immediately drops to 0 $[(c_a(0))_I = 0]$. The debris is so thick that the carrying capacity of Ybux will remain 0 indefinitely $[(c_a(t))_I = 0 \forall t \in \{1, 2, ..., T\}]$. This loss of carrying capacity causes $\frac{1}{2}$ of the remaining Wibbles to die each year, in addition to those that would have died naturally $[h_a = 0.5]$.

What would have happened to the Wibbles had the asteroid not struck? They would have continued living for another 10,000 years [T = 10,000], after which Ybux would have been blown up by the brutal Fnords [29]. The carrying capacity of the planet would have remained at 500 until that time $[(c_a(t))_{\neg I} = 500 \forall t \in \{1, 2, ..., T\}]$.

7.2 Plug and Chug

$$\begin{split} \Delta U(I) &= \left[\left(\frac{\overline{L_a} + (0.2 + 0.5)\overline{D_a}}{0.5} \right) \left[-\sum_{\theta=0}^{0} \left((0) \left((1 - 0.5)^1 - (1 - 0.5)^{10,000} \right) \right) \right] \right. \\ &+ \frac{1}{0.5} \sum_{\phi=0}^{0} \left((0) \left((1 - 0.5)^1 - (1 - 0.5)^{10,000} \right) \right) \right] \\ &- 0.5\overline{D_a}(0) + (\overline{L_a} + 0.2\overline{D_a}) \sum_{\theta=0}^{0} \left((0) (10,000 - 1) \right) \\ &+ (\overline{K_a} - 0.2\overline{D_a})(50) + \left(\overline{K_a} - 0.2\overline{D_a} - \frac{\overline{L_a}}{0.5} - \frac{0.2\overline{D_a}}{0.5} - \overline{D_a} \right) \sum_{\phi=0}^{0} \left((0) (10,000 - 1) \right) \right]_{I} \\ &+ \left[\left(\frac{\overline{L_a} + (0.2 + 0.5)\overline{D_a}}{0.5} \right) \sum_{\theta=0}^{0} \left(500 \left((1 - 0.5)^1 - (1 - 0.5)^{10,000} \right) \right) \right. \\ &+ \left. 0.5\overline{D_a}(500) - (\overline{L_a} + 0.2\overline{D_a}) \sum_{\theta=0}^{0} \left(500(10,000 - 1) \right) \right]_{-I} \\ &= \left(\overline{K_a} - 0.2\overline{D_a} \right)(50) + \left(\frac{\overline{L_a} + (0.2 + 0.5)\overline{D_a}}{0.5} \right) \sum_{\theta=0}^{0} \left(500 \left((1 - 0.5)^1 - (1 - 0.5)^{10,000} \right) \right) \\ &+ 0.5\overline{D_a}(500) - (\overline{L_a} + 0.2\overline{D_a}) \sum_{\theta=0}^{0} \left(500(10,000 - 1) \right) \\ &= -4,999,000\overline{L_a} - 999,310\overline{D_a} + 50\overline{K_a}. \end{split}$$

7.3 Results

Assume that the 50 Wibbles killed by the asteroid were crushed instantaneously, so that $\overline{K_a} = 0$. Then, $\Delta U(I) = -4,999,000\overline{L_a} - 999,310\overline{D_a}$, and I made a positive impact iff $\gamma_a < 0.1999$. That is, if the average utility of life per year for the Wibbles was anything less than $\frac{1}{5}$ th as good as the pain of death was bad, then the asteroid made a positive impact on Ybux. Clearly, if life itself was not worth living, then the asteroid was only beneficial.

8 Application 2: Road Kill

8.1 Overview

Let I denote the collective slaughter of animals for one year by direct road kill only.⁴ Divide time into weeks. Assuming road kill has no significant long-term impact, T = 52. I focus just on mammals, birds, reptiles, and amphibians hit by cars, the collection of which I denote by underscore 1: 1. I exclude consideration of insects despite their massive numbers of roadkill deaths.

8.2 Constant Carrying Capacity

Unlike the previous situations, I in this case does not seem to lower carrying capacity. The environment around roads can support pretty much the same number of animals whether cars drive by or not; thus, I assume that $(c_1(\tau_\theta))_I = (c_1(\tau_\theta))_{-I} \quad \forall \theta \in \{0, 1, \ldots, v\}$. This, in fact, causes most of the terms of (25) to drop out, leaving:

$$\Delta U_{1}(I) = \left[\left(\frac{\overline{L_{1}} + (\frac{1}{\ell_{1}} + h_{1})\overline{D_{1}}}{h_{1}} \right) \left[\frac{1}{h_{1}} \sum_{\phi=0}^{w} \left(k_{1}(\tau_{\phi}) \left((1 - h_{1})^{\tau_{\phi}} - (1 - h_{1})^{\tau_{\phi+1}} \right) \right) \right] + (\overline{K_{1}} - \frac{1}{\ell_{1}}\overline{D_{1}}) k_{1}(0) + \left(\overline{K_{1}} - \frac{1}{\ell_{1}}\overline{D_{1}} - \frac{\overline{L_{1}}}{h_{1}} - \frac{1}{\ell_{1}}\overline{D_{1}}}{h_{1}} - \overline{D_{1}} \right) \sum_{\phi=0}^{w} \left(k_{1}(\tau_{\phi}) \left(\tau_{\phi+1} - \tau_{\phi} \right) \right) \right]_{I}$$

$$(32)$$

8.3 Estimating k_1 :

The roadkill data for 1993 reported 82% mammals, 15% birds, and 3% reptiles and amphibians.

 $^{^{4}}$ Thus, I does not include, for instance, deaths of bats due to scarcity of insects, nor does it count air pollution or global-climate change.

Merritt Clifton, Editor [of] *Animal People Newspaper*, used the 1993 roadkill statistics and estimated that the following animals are being killed by motor vehicles:

- 41 million squirrels
- 26 million cats
- 22 million rats
- 19 million opossums
- 15 million raccoons
- 6 million dogs
- 350,000 deer. [4]

Adding up the death counts from [4] gives $129.35(10^6)$ mammals. Assume that these are all of the animals counted in the "82% mammals" category. Then, there were also $\frac{.15}{.82}(129.35(10^6)) = 23.66(10^6)$ birds and $4.73(10^6)$ reptiles and amphibians killed.

The total number killed in a year is 157.74(10⁶), which translates into $3.02(10^6)$ per week $= k_1(0) = k_1(\tau_0)$.

8.4 Estimating h_1 :

I have no specific data, but it seems as though animals larger than insects would take considerably longer to fill in empty carrying capacity. Each week, these animals might fill in—just as a wild guess— $\frac{1}{20}$ of their remaining capacity, making $h_1 = 0.05$.

8.5 Estimating ℓ_1 :

Type of Animal	Fraction of the Total Number Killed	Lifespan (weeks)
Squirrels	0.26~[4]	313 [9]
Cats	0.16[4]	209 [13]
Rats	0.14 [4]	52 [37]
Opossums	0.12 [4]	78 [54]
Raccoons	0.10[4]	183 [46]
Dogs	0.04 [4]	78 [51]
Deer	0.0022 [4]	522 [16]
Birds	0.15 [4]	72 [30]
Reptiles and amphibians	0.03~[4]	$\sim 150 \ [10, 25]$
Total	1.00	$\ell_1 \approx 169$

8.6 Plug and Chug

$$\begin{split} \Delta U_{1}(I) &= \left[\left(\frac{\overline{L_{1}} + (\frac{1}{\ell_{1}} + h_{1})\overline{D_{1}}}{h_{1}} \right) \left[\frac{1}{h_{1}} \sum_{\phi=0}^{w} \left(k_{1}(\tau_{\phi}) \left((1 - h_{1})^{\tau_{\phi}} - (1 - h_{1})^{\tau_{\phi+1}} \right) \right) \right] \right] \\ &+ (\overline{K_{1}} - \frac{1}{\ell_{1}}\overline{D_{1}}) k_{1}(0) + \left(\overline{K_{1}} - \frac{1}{\ell_{1}}\overline{D_{1}} - \frac{\overline{L_{1}}}{h_{1}} - \frac{1}{\ell_{1}}\overline{D_{1}}}{h_{1}} - \overline{D_{1}} \right) \sum_{\phi=0}^{w} \left(k_{1}(\tau_{\phi}) \left(\tau_{\phi+1} - \tau_{\phi} \right) \right) \right]_{I} \\ &= \left(\frac{\overline{L_{1}} + \left(\frac{1}{169} + 0.05 \right) \overline{D_{1}}}{0.05} \right) \left[\frac{1}{0.05} \sum_{\phi=0}^{0} \left(3.02(10^{6}) \left((1 - 0.05)^{1} - (1 - 0.05)^{52} \right) \right) \right] \right] \\ &+ \left(\overline{K_{1}} - \frac{1}{169} \overline{D_{1}} \right) \left(3.02(10^{6}) \right) \\ &+ \left(\overline{K_{1}} - \frac{1}{169} \overline{D_{1}} - \frac{\overline{L_{1}}}{0.05} - \frac{1}{169} \overline{\overline{D_{1}}} - \overline{D_{1}} \right) \sum_{\phi=0}^{0} \left(3.02(10^{6}) \left(52 - 1 \right) \right) \\ &= \left(20\overline{L_{1}} + \left(\frac{20}{169} + 1 \right) \overline{D_{1}} \right) \left(57.4(10^{6}) \right) \\ &+ \left(\overline{K_{1}} - \frac{1}{169} \overline{D_{1}} \right) \left(3.02(10^{6}) \right) + \left(\overline{K_{1}} - \frac{1}{169} \overline{D_{1}} - 20\overline{L_{1}} - \frac{20}{169} \overline{D_{1}} - \overline{D_{1}} \right) \left(154.0(10^{6}) \right) \\ &= -1, 932(10^{6})\overline{L_{1}} - 109(10^{6}) \overline{D_{1}} + 157(10^{6}) \overline{K_{1}}. \end{split}$$

Dying under the wheels of a car is probably slightly less painful than dying in the jaws of a predator or by starvation. I'll assume $\overline{K_1} = \frac{3}{4}\overline{D_1}$, so that (33) becomes:

$$\Delta U_1(I) = -1,932(10^6)\overline{L_1} + 9(10^6)\overline{D_1}.$$
(34)

8.7 Results

 $\Delta U_1(I)>0 \Leftrightarrow \gamma_1 < -0.005.$ Thus, I can be said to have had an overall adverse impact even if $\overline{L_1}$ is (slightly) negative—specifically, if living for a week is at most $\frac{5}{1000}$ as bad as dying.

9 Application 3: Eating Meat

I represents a single person's decision to eat a standard meat-containing American diet instead of a vegan diet. Let ₁, ₂, and ₃ respectively denote the effects of I on animals in factory farms, mammals and birds in the wild, and insects in the wild.

9.1 Factory-Farmed Animals: $\Delta U_1(I)$

Instead of applying (25), it's easier to calculate $\Delta U_1(I)$ directly. The average American consumes 32 animals per year, each of which had a weighted-average lifespan of 49 days [31, pp. 6-7]. Divide time into units of weeks. Then we have $\Delta U_1(I) = \frac{49}{7}(32)\overline{L_1} + 32\overline{K_1} = 224\overline{L_1} + 32\overline{K_1}$.

In addition, however, Americans eat 304 eggs per year, each of which took 1.04 days to produce [31, p. 7], which translates into 316 days = 45 weeks of laying time.

It is usually arranged—by manipulating body weight and day length for laying hens to start laying eggs at approximately 20 weeks of age. They lay eggs for about 1 year, at which point decreasing egg numbers and eggshell quality mean that it is no longer profitable to continue. When the hens are about 74 weeks old, they either are sent for slaughter as spent laying hens or force-molted and kept for a 2nd laying year. The majority of hens are disposed of after this 2nd laying year; a small number of flocks may be force-molted again and kept for a 3rd laying year. No matter how many years they have been in lay, all laying hens are eventually slaughtered as spent laying hens. [19]

From [19], I'll estimate the length for which a hen lays as 2 years = 104 weeks. Then, the 45 weeks of laying to which I contributes imply creation of $\frac{45}{104}$ th of a hen. In total, hens live for 104 weeks of laying + 20 weeks before laying = 124 weeks, so I contributes to $\frac{45}{104}(124) = 53$ weeks of life and $\frac{45}{104}$ th of a death. Adding this in to $\Delta U_1(I)$:

$$\Delta U_1(I) = (224\overline{L_1} + 32\overline{K_1}) + (53\overline{L_1} + \frac{45}{104}\overline{K_1})$$

= $277\overline{L_1} + 32.4\overline{K_1},$ (35)

where I'm assuming (perhaps inaccurately) that $\overline{L_1}$ and $\overline{K_1}$ are the same for laying hens as for a weighted average of all other farm animals.

 $\Delta U_1(I) > 0 \Leftrightarrow \gamma_1 > 0.12$. Presumably, γ_1 is actually highly negative, so there's practically no chance that $\Delta U_1(I) > 0$. This confirms the vegan stance with respect to farm animals.

9.2 Wild Mammals and Birds: $\Delta U_2(I)$

Again, I use a shortcut to (25). [42, p. 586] and sources therein give the data for the following table. For want of space, I write the titles of the columns below.

Animal product	Column 2	Column 3	Column 4
Chicken	4	0.65	6.4
Eggs	12	1.9	1.5
Pork	80	12.5	4.4
Beef	235	36.8	5.9
Milk	14	2.1	7.7

- Column 2 is the additional number of square meters of crop land that would be required to produce a kilogram of protein from the type of animal product in the corresponding row of Column 1 instead of a kilogram of protein from soybeans.
- Column 3 is the additional number of mammal and bird life-weeks that would be prevented by producing a kilogram of protein from the type of animal product in the corresponding row of Column 1 instead of a kilogram of soybeans.
- Column 4 is the annual number of kilograms of protein that the average American consumes from the type of animal product given in the corresponding row of Column 1.

The total of Column 4 is 25.9 kilograms. Assume the vegan would have otherwise eaten this amount of protein in soybeans if she had not switched to a standard-American diet.

Multiply each entry of Column 3 by its corresponding entry of Column 4 and take the sum. The result is 295.3, which represents the total number of mammal and bird life-weeks prevented by I. For simplicity, I'll just assume that these life-weeks would have been lived by $\frac{295.3}{\ell_2}$ mammals and birds that would have had an average lifespan of ℓ_2 weeks.

Squirrels, rats, and deer seem like some representative mammals from the table in section 8.5 that might be supplanted by crop land. If we average the lifespans of these three mammals—weighting in proportion to their representation in road kill—we get 223 weeks. The table's average lifespan for birds was 72 weeks. [42, p. 585] assumes that mammals are 2.25 times as numerous as birds, which gives the following weighted-average value for ℓ_2 :

$$\ell_2 = \frac{2.25}{3.25}(223) + \frac{1}{3.25}(72) = 177.$$
(36)

Thus, we assume that I prevented $\frac{295.3}{177} = 1.67$ mammal and bird lives (and, therefore, deaths):

$$\Delta U_2(I) = -295.3L_2 - 1.67D_2. \tag{37}$$

 $\Delta U_2(I) > 0 \Leftrightarrow \gamma_2 < 0.006.$

9.3 Insects: $\Delta U_3(I)$

I causes some amount of land to be devoted to crops for a year. As I did above, assume that I converts otherwise forest land into crop land for a period of 52 weeks [T = 52].

9.3.1 Estimating h_3 :

I have no specific data, so I'll just assume $h_2 = 0.33$.

9.3.2 Estimating ℓ_3 :

I give lifespans for a number of different types of insects and then estimate a rough middle value. 5

Type of Insect	Lifespan (weeks)
Horn fly	2[55]
Trichogramma Wasps	2 [6]
Stable fly	3 [55]
Black fly	$\sim 3 \text{ to } \sim 20 \ [7]$
Mosquito	3 to ~ 150 [7]
Damselflies	3 to 4 [36]
Drosophila	6 [64]
Dragonflies	6 to 8 [36]
Green lacewings	12 [6]
Ladybird beetles	48 [6]

Perhaps a (very rough) compromise age is to choose $\ell_3 = 5$ weeks.

Insects are capable of high rates of reproduction. Curtis Sabrosky provided an example in 1952 of the reproductive potential in house flies. Beginning with one pair of house flies in April, there would be a total of 191,000,000,000,000,000,000 flies by August if all the descendants of this pair lived and reproduced normally. Glenn Herrick found that the cabbage aphid had an average of 41 off-spring per female and that the aphid had 16 generations from April to October. If all the descendants of one female aphid lived, there would be 1,560,000,000,000,000,000,000 aphids by the end of the summer. [5]

⁵The sources that I used for this table were not specific about whether the "average lifespans" that they reported included the large number of insects that die shortly after birth. I imagine that most of these figures only give the average lifespan of those individuals that make it past the first few days or weeks of age. Thus, these figures may severely *understate* the case for environmental destruction, perhaps by many orders of magnitude.

9.3.3 Estimating k_3 :

Suppose pesticides are applied four times: once in late April [t = 17], once in late May [t = 22], once in late June [t = 26], and once in late July [t = 30]. For each t when pesticides are applied, $k_3(t) = 0.5(c_3(t))_I$; *i.e.*, each time pesticides are applied, they kill half of the total number of insects that could live on the crop land.

w = 8 with $\tau_0 = 1$, $\tau_1 = 17$, $\tau_2 = 18$, $\tau_3 = 22$, $\tau_4 = 23$, $\tau_5 = 26$, $\tau_6 = 27$, $\tau_7 = 30$, $\tau_8 = 31$, and $\tau_9 := T = 52$. $k_3(\tau_{\phi}) = 0$ when $\phi = 0, 2, 4, 6, 8$, or 9, and $k_3(\tau_{\phi}) = 0.5c_3(\tau_{\phi})$ when $\phi = 1, 3, 5$, or 7.

9.3.4 Estimating c_3 :

Return to the table in 9.2. Multiply each entry of Column 2 by its corresponding entry in Column 4 and take the sum. The result, 1,890, is the number of square meters of land that are cultivated due to I.

When there isn't snow on the ground, forest land has an insect⁶ density of 105,000 per square meter [5]. During the winter, this number might be—just as a guess—half as much. Suppose there's snow on the ground for 4 months out of the year. Then, a weighted-average value for the number of insects per square meter of forest is $\frac{4}{12}(0.5)(105,000) + \frac{8}{12}(105,000) = 87,500$. Multiplying by 1,890—the total number of square meters being considered—gives 1.65(10⁸) = c_3^{forest} , the carrying capacity of the given land area when the land is forest land. Similarly let c_3^{crop} represent the number of insects that the given area of land could hold as crop land.⁷

$$\beta := \frac{c_3^{\text{crop}}}{c_3^{\text{forest}}}.$$
(38)

I'll try two different values of β . The first, $\beta = 1$, is a default assumption, while the second, $\beta = 0.5$ is probably more accurate. I say this because, intuitively, the ground of a forest is littered with decaying organic material for decomposition, while farm land—even when no pesticides are applied (the relevant condition for considering carrying capacity)—is more dry and barren.

 $^{^6}$ Actually, the density I cite here refers to "arthropods." The density of actual insects is only a fraction of this amount. I use the label "insects" as a more familiar term by which to refer to arthropods as a whole.

⁷Note that $c_3^{\text{forest}} := (c_3)_{\neg I}$ and $c_3^{\text{crop}} := (c_3)_I$.

9.3.5 When $\beta = 1$

The carrying capacities under I and $\neg I$ are the same, so that (25) reduces to the familiar (32):

$$\begin{split} \Delta U_{3}(I) &= \left[\left(\frac{\overline{L_{3}}^{S} + (\frac{1}{\ell_{3}} + 0.33)\overline{D_{3}}^{S}}{0.33} \right) \left[\frac{1}{0.33} \sum_{\phi=0}^{w} \left(k_{3}(\tau_{\phi}) \left((1 - 0.33)^{\tau_{\phi}} - (1 - 0.33)^{\tau_{\phi+1}} \right) \right) \right] \right] \\ &+ (\overline{K_{3}}^{S} - \frac{1}{\ell_{3}} \overline{D_{3}}^{S}) k_{3}(0) + \left(\overline{K_{3}}^{S} - \frac{1}{\ell_{3}} \overline{D_{3}}^{S} - \frac{\overline{L_{3}}^{S}}{0.33} - \overline{D_{3}}^{S} \right) \sum_{\phi=0}^{w} \left(k_{3}(\tau_{\phi}) (\tau_{\phi+1} - \tau_{\phi}) \right) \right]_{I} \\ &= \left(\frac{\overline{L_{3}}^{S} + (\frac{1}{5} + 0.33)\overline{D_{3}}^{S}}{0.33} \right) \left[\frac{1}{0.33} \sum_{\phi=0}^{8} \left(k_{3}(\tau_{\phi}) \left((1 - 0.33)^{\tau_{\phi}} - (1 - 0.33)^{\tau_{\phi+1}} \right) \right) \right] \right] \\ &+ (\overline{K_{3}}^{S} - \frac{1}{5} \overline{D_{3}}^{S})(0) + \left(\overline{K_{3}}^{S} - \frac{1}{5} \overline{D_{3}}^{S} - \frac{\overline{L_{3}}^{S}}{0.33} - \frac{\overline{L_{3}}^{S}}{0.33} - \overline{D_{3}}^{S} \right) \sum_{\phi=0}^{8} \left(k_{3}(\tau_{\phi}) (\tau_{\phi+1} - \tau_{\phi}) \right) \\ &= \left(3\overline{L_{3}}^{S} + 1.6\overline{D_{3}}^{S} \right) \left(6.39(10^{-4})c_{3}^{\mathrm{crop}} \right) \\ &+ \left(\overline{K_{3}}^{S} - \frac{1}{5} \overline{D_{3}}^{S} - 3\overline{L_{3}}^{S} - 0.6\overline{D_{3}}^{S} - \overline{D_{3}}^{S} \right) (51c_{3}^{\mathrm{crop}}). \end{split}$$

In this case, $c_3^{\text{crop}} = c_3^{\text{forest}} = 1.65(10^8)$, so that (39) becomes

$$\Delta U_3(I) = -252(10^8)\overline{L_3}^S - 151(10^8)\overline{D_3}^S + 84(10^8)\overline{K_3}^S.$$
(40)

Finally, discounting by $\Pi_3 = 0.001$,

$$\Delta U_3(I) = -252(10^5)\overline{L_3} - 151(10^5)\overline{D_3} + 84(10^5)\overline{K_3}.$$
(41)

9.3.6 When $\beta = 0.5$

This time, we have to use (25) because $(c_3)_I \neq (c_3)_{\neg I}$. But part of the work we've already done, in the form of (39); the only difference this time is that $c_3^{\text{crop}} = 0.5c_3^{\text{forest}}$. All we need to do for this portion of the equation is to multiply the right-hand side of (41) by 0.5:

First part of
$$\Delta U_3(I) = -126(10^5)\overline{L_3} - 76(10^5)\overline{D_3} + 42(10^5)\overline{K_3}.$$
 (42)

The remaining portion takes the form

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Remaining} \Delta U_3(I) &= \left[\left(\frac{\overline{L_3}^S + \left(\frac{1}{\ell_3} + h_3\right)\overline{D_3}^S}{h_3} \right) \left[-\sum_{\theta=0}^v \left(c_3(\tau_{\theta}) \left((1-h_3)^{\tau_{\theta}} - (1-h_3)^{\tau_{\theta+1}} \right) \right) \right] \right] \\ &- h_3 \overline{D_3}^S c_3(0) + (\overline{L_3}^S + \frac{1}{\ell_3} \overline{D_3}^S) \sum_{\theta=0}^v \left(c_3(\tau_{\theta}) \left(\tau_{\theta+1} - \tau_{\theta} \right) \right) \right]_I \\ &+ \left[\left(\frac{\overline{L_3}^S + \left(\frac{1}{\ell_3} + h_3\right)\overline{D_3}^S}{h_3} \right) \sum_{\theta=0}^v \left(c_3(\tau_{\theta}) \left((1-h_3)^{\tau_{\theta}} - (1-h_3)^{\tau_{\theta+1}} \right) \right) \right) \\ &+ h_3 \overline{D_3}^S c_3(0) - (\overline{L_3}^S + \frac{1}{\ell_3} \overline{D_3}^S) \sum_{\theta=0}^v \left(c_3(\tau_{\theta}) \left(\tau_{\theta+1} - \tau_{\theta} \right) \right) \right]_{\neg I} \\ &= \left(\frac{\overline{L_3}^S + \left(\frac{1}{5} + 0.33\right)\overline{D_3}^S}{0.33} \right) \left[-\sum_{\theta=0}^0 \left(0.825(10^8) \left((1-.33)^1 - (1-0.33)^{52} \right) \right) \right] \\ &- 0.33 \overline{D_3}^S \left(0.825(10^8) \right) + (\overline{L_3}^S + \frac{1}{5} \overline{D_3}^S) \sum_{\theta=0}^0 \left(0.825(10^8) \left(52 - 1 \right) \right) \\ &+ \left(\frac{\overline{L_3}^S + \left(\frac{1}{5} + 0.33\right)\overline{D_3}^S}{0.33} \right) \sum_{\theta=0}^0 \left(1.65(10^8) \left((1-0.33)^1 - (1-0.33)^{52} \right) \right) \\ &+ 0.33 \overline{D_3}^S \left(1.65(10^8) \right) - (\overline{L_3}^S + \frac{1}{5} \overline{D_3}^S \right) \sum_{\theta=0}^0 \left(1.65(10^8) \left(52 - 1 \right) \right) \\ &= -(3\overline{L_3}^S + 1.6 \overline{D_3}^S) \left(0.553(10^8) \right) - 0.272(10^8) \overline{D_3}^S \\ &+ (\overline{L_3}^S + \frac{1}{5} \overline{D_3}^S) \left(42.1(10^8) \right) + (3\overline{L_3}^S + 1.6 \overline{D_3}^S) \left(1.10(10^8) \right) \\ &+ 0.545(10^8) \overline{D_3}^S - (\overline{L_3}^S + \frac{1}{5} \overline{D_3}^S) \left(84.2(10^8) \right) \\ &= -40.5(10^8) \overline{L_3}^S - 7.27(10^8) \overline{D_3}^S \end{aligned}$$

Adding this result to (42),

$$\Delta U_3(I) = -167(10^5)\overline{L_3} - 83(10^5)\overline{D_3} + 42(10^5)\overline{K_3}.$$
(44)

9.4 Adding Them Up: $\Delta U(I) \equiv \Delta U_1(I) + \Delta U_2(I) + \Delta U_3(I)$

9.4.1 Harmonization Assumptions

• Usually, the sign of \overline{L} is somewhat ambiguous and fairly close to zero. But $\overline{L_1}$ is strongly negative. Thus, it might be best compared against \overline{D} . Suppose that a week spent in a factory farm is as bad as experiencing the pain of slaughter: $\overline{L_1} = \overline{K_1}$.

- The US Humane Methods of Slaughter Act (HMSA) requires that, except in cases of religious slaughter, animals must be "rendered insensible to pain by a single blow or gunshot or an electrical, chemical or other means that is rapid and effective, before being shackled, hoisted, thrown, cast, or cut" [33]. Stunning is not always effectual, and slaughterhouses regularly violate the HMSA—sometimes even dismembering animals while conscious [22, 69]. Moreover, poultry—which constitute over 95% of all terrestrial farm animals killed [31, p. 7]—and aquatic animals—10 million of which are caught each year [32]—are not covered by HMSA [3, p. 3]. Still, the average factory-farmed animal probably has a slightly better death than one in the wild, so I'll assume $\overline{K_1} = \frac{1}{2}\overline{D_2}$.
- Suppose that $\overline{D_3} = \overline{K_3} = \frac{1}{2}\overline{D_2}$.
- I define the average aggregated utility of living a bug's life to be α times as good or bad as living the life of wild mammals and birds: $\overline{L_3} := \alpha \overline{L_2}$. Insects are presumably less active than mammals and birds, so I'll assume $\alpha = 0.5$. Since I consider it likely that insects have *no* net balance of happiness over pain during the course of their lives, I'll also try $\alpha = 0$.

9.4.2 Results for $\beta = 1$

Adding together (35), (37), and (41),

$$\Delta U(I) = 277\overline{L_1} + 32.4\overline{K_1} - 295.3\overline{L_2} - 1.67\overline{D_2} - 252(10^5)\overline{L_3} - 151(10^5)\overline{D_3} + 84(10^5)\overline{K_3} = 139\overline{D_2} + 16.2\overline{D_2} - 295.3\overline{L_2} - 1.67\overline{D_2} - 252(10^5)\alpha\overline{L_2} - 76(10^5)\overline{D_2} + 42(10^5)\overline{D_2}.$$
(45)

The insect terms swamp everything else. We end up with

$$\Delta U(I) = (-295.3 - 252(10^5)\alpha)\overline{L_2} - 24(10^5)\overline{D_2}.$$
(46)

- When $\alpha = 0.5$, $\Delta U(I) > 0 \Leftrightarrow \gamma_2 < 0.09$.
- When $\alpha = 0$, $\Delta U(I) > 0 \Leftrightarrow \gamma_2 < 8, 127$.

9.4.3 Results for $\beta = 0.5$

Adding together (35), (37), and (44),

$$\Delta U(I) = 277\overline{L_1} + 32.4\overline{K_1}$$

$$- 295.3\overline{L_2} - 1.67\overline{D_2}$$

$$- 167(10^5)\overline{L_3} - 83(10^5)\overline{D_3} + 42(10^5)\overline{K_3}$$

$$= 139\overline{D_2} + 16.2\overline{D_2}$$

$$- 295.3\overline{L_2} - 1.67\overline{D_2}$$

$$- 167(10^5)\alpha\overline{L_2} - 42(10^5)\overline{D_2} + 21(10^5)\overline{D_2}$$

$$= (-295.3 - 167(10^5)\alpha)\overline{L_2} - 21(10^5)\overline{D_2}.$$
(47)

- When $\alpha = 0.5$, $\Delta U(I) > 0 \Leftrightarrow \gamma_2 < 0.25$.
- When $\alpha = 0$, $\Delta U(I) > 0 \Leftrightarrow \gamma_2 < 7, 111$.

10 Summary of Applications

In the following table, A denotes the set of all species affected by I. a specifies the specific species to which γ_a refers. For example, when incorporating changes in expected aggregated utility due to both insects and larger animals, yet we can arrive at an equation written just in terms of $\overline{L_a}$ and $\overline{D_a}$ for $a = \{$ larger animals $\}$. The γ_a in the table, then, should thus only be compared against the actual value of γ for larger animals—even though it *incorporates* effects on insects, as well.

				Using weeks
Section	Ι	А	a	for $\overline{L_a}$,
				$\Delta U(I) > 0$ iff
9.1	Eating meat	Factory-farmed animals	Factory-farmed animals	$\gamma_a > 0.12$
8.7	Road kill	Larger animals	Larger animals	$\gamma_a < -0.005$
7.3	Asteroid	Wibbles	Wibbles	$\gamma_a < 0.004$
9.2	Eating meat	Wild mammals and birds	Wild mammals and birds	$\gamma_a < 0.006$
9.4.2	Eating meat	All animals, $\beta = 1$, $\alpha = 0.5$	Wild mammals and birds	$\gamma_a < 0.09$
9.3.6	Eating meat	Insects, $\beta = 0.5$	Insects	$\gamma_a < 0.25$
9.4.3	Eating meat	All animals, $\beta = 0.5$, $\alpha = 0.5$	Wild mammals and birds	$\gamma_a < 0.25$
9.3.5	Eating meat	Insects, $\beta = 1$	Insects	$\gamma_a < 0.27$
9.4.3	Eating meat	All animals, $\beta = 0.5$, $\alpha = 0$	Wild mammals and birds	$\gamma_a < 7,111$
9.4.2	Eating meat	All animals, $\beta = 1$, $\alpha = 0$	Wild mammals and birds	$\gamma_a < 8,127$

It would be misleading to take a mean of the values in the fifth column for two reasons:

• they don't represent any sort of random sample, and

• they represent different species in different situations; there isn't even a single actual value for γ against which I could compare this mean if I were to compute it.

I will note, however, that in all rows except the first two, I had a net good effect even if γ_a was vanishingly positive (*i.e.*, even if daily life was barely enjoyable). If suffering perfectly balances happiness during life before death, $\gamma_a = 0$. For a negative utilitarian, according to whom both life and dying are bad, $\gamma_a < 0$.

11 Is Life in the Wild Miserable?

11.1 A Neglected Topic

Many people go through life with conceptions of nature taken from children's books or Disney films [58, Ch. 4.32]. Even wildlife programs tend not to convey a full sense of the brutality of nature. Like action movies, they often focus on the excitement of a predator's chase of prey, rather than the gruesomeness of death. Rarely do these shows display scenes of sick, injured, or moribund animals.

The antihunter has no less responsibility [than the hunter] for the pain of the animals, he has merely chosen to remain far away from it so that he does not have to see it or face up to his responsibility. Through his efforts to prevent controlled hunting he unwittingly dooms animals to a certain death by some other cause. [... Antihunters] have made the choice for the slower natural death which they can avoid seeing, but cannot avoid being responsible for. [35]

11.2 Life and Death in the Wild

During the reader's contemplation of this topic, she should consider the following question: "If I were given the choice between never having existed, or living for five weeks as a wild mammal or bird and then suffering a natural death, which would I choose?" If the reader's answer is that she would prefer nonexistence, then she thinks that her γ would be < 0.20. If this estimate applies to most wild mammals and birds, many of the environmental impacts in the table of section 10 would appear to be beneficial.

12 Objections

12.1 "But I find life enjoyable!"

If you were in a state of severe agony, you wouldn't be reading this paper right now. And if you were currently enduring significant pain, you might have a different opinion.

Most of the time, we go through life in a euthymic state—one in which we have our basic needs satisfied and feel mildly content [58, Ch. 5.0]. We also make most of our moral decisions in this state, as probably we should, since severe pain makes us irrational. But it is important that we do not become complacent to suffering. We live comfortable lives in which we have food, shelter, warmth, and general health. We will never be killed by the jaws of a predator. We will never die outside the cold. We musn't blindly assume that other organisms share our emotional state, and we must remind ourselves of what it's like to suffer.

Several studies have demonstrated the psychological phenomenon of "depressive realism"—the finding that depressed people have more accurate perceptions than happy people, especially as regards their own abilities [15]. It seems plausible that humans would have a similar mechanism with respect to their assessments of how enjoyable life is. Such a mechanism would presumably have evolutionary benefits, inasmuch as people who don't dwell on negative thoughts are usually more motivated and productive. Of course, this analysis is slightly complicated by the fact that positive delusions themselves actually make people happier, so that those who think that their lives are better *actually do* have better lives, *ceteris paribus*. Indeed, self-delusion can often be salutary for one's health, productivity, and happiness. But when we are considering the question of whether life is worth living for wild animals, we should aim for accuracy, rather than the conclusion that will just make us feel good about the world. The sick moose that lies helpless on the ground, waiting to be torn apart by predators, is not helped by our desire to paint rosy Potemkin villages of the world.

12.2 Nature as sacred

There are at least two sources from which this sentiment emerges: creationism and general intuition.

12.2.1 Creationism

Some maintain that nature is sacred because it was created by God. I shall not endeavor to refute this claim here.

I will, however, note that creationism, combined with belief in a benevolent creator, leads to the "problem of evil." John Stuart Mill was one of many to note this:

For however offensive the proposition may appear to many religious persons, they should be willing to look in the face the undeniable fact, that the order of nature, in so far as unmodified by man, is such as no being, whose attributes are justice and benevolence, would have made, with the intention that his rational creatures should follow it as an example. [47]

Some religious thinkers have responded by denying that life in the wild is actually brutal, asserting instead that nature contains only that small amount of pain needed to ensure organisms' survival [68, 27, 2]. Others acknowledge "the ubiquity of pain, predation, suffering, and death in the creative evolutionary process," but argue that the situation might be made "morally acceptable and coherent" by the suggestion that God suffers along with his creation, in much the same way that mothers suffer during the birthing of their children [57]. [43, p. 102] echoes this view: the wholeness of the universe "submits to such suffering presumably because there are simply no other ways of creating the required abundance and diversity of selves than those ways that have pain as their corollary [...]."

12.2.2 General Intuition

People feel a wonderful sense of awe when they spend time in nature. When we walk through a forest, we remark about the song of birds, the croaking of frogs, and the chirping of katydids. We fail to notice the thousands of arthropods upon which we are stepping.

13 Spreading Suffering to the Stars

There is a possibility that humans or post-humans will populate other planets with life—perhaps, in some cases, sentient life.

13.1 Terraforming

NASA is one of several organizations contemplating the logistics of "terraforming" mars—that is, making the planet more like Earth to facilitate colonization [65]. Part of the process would involve introduction of microbial life forms [20]. Presumably, humans would introduce other sentient life as conditions progressed. The utilitarian might hope that such life would have been engineered to experience only varying degrees of pleasure [58] or that it might take the form of sentient (and extremely happy) machines capable of performing ecological functions. Unfortunately, humans may not be especially motivated to ensure that this happens;⁸ even if they were, these utilitarian approaches to ecopoiesis would probably not be in place by the time humans terraform mars.

13.2 Directed Panspermia

Probably an even greater increase in the amount of sentient life on other planets would come from "directed panspermia"—deliberate seeding of the galaxy with packages of life. The process appears feasible (see, *e.g.*, [44, 45]); moreover, the idea would probably enjoy a fair amount of popular support (perhaps more than dispersal of engineered happy animals). Some might view the seeding of space with life as the human race's manifest destiny, while others might consider it a natural extension of God's command to Noah and his sons: "And you, be ye fruitful, and multiply; bring forth abundantly in the earth, and multiply therein" [26, Genesis 9:7]. The Society for Life in Space maintains that directed panspermia is a paramount ethical goal [59].

14 How Many Extraterrestrial Life-Years?

What's the expected number of sentient extraterrestrial life-years in our galaxy? I use a modified Drake equation [17]:

$$N \approx R^* f_e f_l f_s n \Pi LB, \tag{48}$$

where

this symbol	stands for the
N	expected number of sentient extraterrestrial life-years that will ever exist in the future
	of our galaxy (excluding Earth and colonization of other planets by post-humans)
R^*	rate of star formation in our galaxy
f_e	fraction of stars with habitable planets
f_l	fraction of those planets on which life does emerge
f_s	fraction of those planets on which life reaches a level at which it's conceivably
	sentient $(e.g., insects are conceivably sentient, but plants are not)$
n	average population of conceivably sentient organisms per planet with life
П	weighted-average probability that those organisms are actually sentient
L	average duration for which the population n continues to exist
В	length of time for which R^* continues before the stars burn out

⁸Perhaps this is a partial argument in favor of promoting awareness of animal welfare. Distributing literature on vegetarianism would be one way to accomplish this [31, p. 3]. Maybe it would be best to emphasize (as this paper is doing) the suffering of animals in the wild, since this issue often fails to enter into the minds of even dedicated animal-welfare activists.

Essays on Reducing Suffering

Estimating parameters:

• $R^* = 6$ stars/year.

[18] puts R^* between 4 and 19. Drake's original 1961 paper put the figure at 10, while NASA and the European Space Agency recently estimated R^* at 6 [17]. I chose the last value.

- $f_e = 0.1$ [41, p. 60].
- $f_l = 0.9$.

We can't simply say that, "since life evolved on Earth, the process must be likely" because of an observer-selection effect. [40] took this effect into account and found an expected f_l close to 1, which happened to be Drake's original estimate [17]. In addition, $f_l > 0.13$ with 95% confidence [40]; hence, I (somewhat arbitrarily) chose 0.9.

• $f_s = 0.01$.

 f_s might be fairly small. For instance, life on Earth began $4(10^9)$ years ago, but it was not until

- $-2.1(10^9)$ years ago that eukaryotes evolved
- -10^9 years ago that multicellular life evolved
- 0.6(10^9) years ago that animals evolved (e.g., sponges, jellyfish, and flatworms)
- $-0.505(10^9)$ years ago that vertebrates developed
- and $0.45(10^9)$ years ago that arthropods emerged [66].

Indeed, there's no reason why conceivably sentient creatures should necessarily evolve at all. (To say that "sentience is likely because it happened on Earth" is once again to neglect observational-selection bias, since selfaware organisms are presumably more likely to be sentient.)

Because of these difficulties—and because I can't find any concrete data—I suppose that $f_s = 0.01$.

• $n = 5(10^{17})$.

I'll use Earth as a basis for my estimate. On Earth, insects outweigh all other possible sentient organisms by orders of magnitude, so I'll just count them: 10^{18} [63]. Perhaps Earth is slightly better situated for life than some other planets are, so perhaps I'll cut this number in half for my average: $n = 5(10^{17})$.

I am assuming here that there will be no post-human-like extrater restrial civilizations with massive populations.

• $\Pi = 0.001$, as before.

• $L = 1.65(10^9)$ years.

Drake's original estimate was 10,000 years, but he was calculating the survival time of civilizations that are willing and able to communicate with Earth [17]. The length of time for which insects can survive is much longer. Indeed, even few catastrophic risks are capable of wiping them out.

I use the expected lifespan of arthropods on Earth for L. Arthropods evolved $0.45(10^9)$ years ago and will probably last until the demise of Earth's biosphere in $0.9(10^9)$ to $1.5(10^9)$ [average = $1.2(10^9)$] years [11].

• $B = 10^{14}$ years.

Normal stars will stop forming in 10^{14} years [1, p. 367].

N comes out to be $4.455(10^{35})$ life-years.

15 Closing Quotations:

The whole earth, believe me, Philo, is cursed and polluted. A perpetual war is kindled amongst all living creatures. Necessity, hunger, want, stimulate the strong and courageous: fear, anxiety, terror, agitate the weak and infirm. The first entrance into life gives anguish to the new-born infant and to its wretched parent: weakness, impotence, distress, attend each stage of that life: and it is at last finished in agony and horror.

—Demea, in David Hume's *Dialogues Concerning Natural Religion*, 1751 [34]

We might reject nature policing simply by regarding it as intrinsically bad. If this view is selected as an axiom, so be it. This paper could then be read as arguing that such an axiom is not compatible with other plausible axioms that we hold about animals, such as the view that their welfare matters, they deserve moral consideration, or that the painful death of an animal is a bad thing. [...]

In casual discussion, I find that virtually all individuals find the conclusion of nature policing as one to be avoided. Indeed I set out to write this paper with that intuition in mind. I expected to find some clever twist that would resolve the issue and eliminate nature policing as a philosophically viable alternative. It is impossible to prove that such a clever twist does not exist, but at some point we need to consider modifying our original intuition, if the would-be twist proves sufficiently hard to find. Philosophy is in part about

subjecting our intuitions to the scrutiny of reason and hoping to improve on them.

—Tyler Cowen, "Policing Nature," 19 May 2001 [14]

References

- [1] Adams, Fred C. and Gregory Laughlin. "A Dying Universe: The Long-Term Fate and Evolution of Astrophysical Objects." *Reviews of Modern Physics* 69.2 (1997): 337-72. University of California Astronomy Department. 12 July 2006 (http: //astro.berkeley.edu/~arons/Ay84/adams_fate.pdf).
- [2] "Animal Pain and the Cruelty of God." Does God Exist? 28.1 (2001). Doesgodexist.com. 16 July 2006 (http://www.doesgodexist.org/JanFeb01/ AnimalPainAndTheCrueltyOfGod.html).
- [3] "Animal Welfare: Farm Bill Forum Comment Summary & Background." US Department of Agriculture. 26 July 2006 (http://www.usda.gov/documents/ANIMAL_WELFARE.doc).
- [4] Bartlett, Brewster and others. "Summary of Past Data." 26 Feb. 2006. EduTel Communications Inc. 8 July 2006 (http://roadkill.edutel.com/rkdataarchive.html).
- [5] "Basic Facts: Insect Numbers." O. Orkin Insect Zoo, National Museum of Natural History, Smithsonian Institution. 1997.
 Mississippi State University. 8 July 2006 (http: //insectzoo.msstate.edu/Students/basic.numbers.html).
- [6] "Beneficial Insects in Your Backyard." University of Maine Cooperative Extension Bulletin 2490. 3 April 2006. 6 July 2006 (http://www.umext.maine.edu/onlinepubs/htmpubs/ habitats/7150.htm).
- [7] "Biting Insects." Doktor Doom. 6 July 2006 (http://www.doktordoom.com/biting.html).
- [8] Bostrom, Nick. "Infinite Ethics." 2004. Nick Bostrom's Home Page. 2 July 2006 (http://www.nickbostrom.com/ethics/infinite.pdf).
- [9] "A Brief History of the Squirrel." Squirrels.org. 8 July 2006 (http://www.squirrels.org/history.html).
- [10] "Bullfrog Rana catesbeiana." AllAboutFrogs.org. 8 July 2006 (http://allaboutfrogs.org/info/species/bullfrog.html). The average bullfrog lives 4 to 5 years.

- [11] Caldeira, Ken and James F. Kasting. "The Life Span of the Biosphere Revisited." Nature 360 (1992): 721-23. Abstract at Nature.com. 15 July 2006 (http://www.nature.com/nature/ journal/v360/n6406/abs/360721a0.html).
- [12] Callicott, J. Baird. "Animal Liberation: A Triangular Affair." Environmental Ethics 2.4 (1980): 311-28.
- [13] "Cat Facts." CatsInfo.com. 2001. 8 July 2006 (http://www.catsinfo.com/catfacts.html). I settled on an average lifespan of four years because this source reported that "The average lifespan of an outdoor-only cat is about 3 to 5 years [...]."
- [14] Cowen, Tyler. "Policing Nature." Tyler Cowen's Personal Web Page. 19 May 2001. George Mason University. 20 July 2006 (http://www.gmu.edu/jbc/Tyler/police.doc).
- [15] For a discussion and references, see "Depressive Realism." Wikipedia. 17 July 2006. 30 July 2006 (http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Depressive_realism).
- [16] Dewey, T. and Animal Diversity Web Staff. "Odocoileus virginianus." Animal Diversity Web. 2003. University of Michigan Museum of Zoology. 8 July 2006 (http://animaldiversity.ummz.umich.edu/site/accounts/ information/Odocoileus_virginianus.html).
- [17] "Drake Equation." Wikipedia. 7 July 2006. 15 July 2006 (http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Drake_equation).
- [18] Drake, Frank. "The Drake Equation Revisited: Part I." Astrobiology Magazine 29 Sept. 2003. 15 July 2006 (http://www.astrobio.net/news/article610.html).
- [19] Duncan, Ian J.H. "Animal Welfare Issues in the Poultry Industry: Is There a Lesson to Be Learned?" Journal of Applied Animal Welfare Science 4.3 (2001): 207-21. EBSCO. 9 July 2006 (http://search.epnet.com/login.aspx?direct= true&db=aph&an=6545402).
- [20] "Ecopoiesis." Wikipedia. 13 July 2006. 14 July 2006 (http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Ecopoiesis).
- [21] Eisenberg, Sheryl. "Down with Meat." This Green Life Mar. 2006. Natural Resources Defense Council. 4 July 2006 (http://www.nrdc.org/thisgreenlife/0603.asp).
- [22] Eisnitz, Gail A. Slaughterhouse: The Shocking Story of Greed, Neglect, and Inhumane Treatment Inside the U.S. Meat Industry. London: Prometheus Books, 1997.

- [23] Everett, Jennifer. "Environmental Ethics, Animal Welfarism, and the Problem of Predation: A Bambi Lover's Respect for Nature." *Ethics and the Environment* 6.1 (2001): 42-67.
- [24] Fink, Charles K. "The Predation Argument." Between the Species 5 (2005). California Polytechnic State University. 4 July 2006 (http://cla.calpoly.edu/~jlynch/fink.html).
- [25] "Garter Snake (*Thamnophis sirtalis*)." Animal Planet. Discovery Channel. 8 July 2006 (http://animal.discovery.com/ fansites/jeffcorwin/carnival/slithering/garter.html). The average lifespan of a garter snake may be around 2 years.
- [26] The Holy Bible, King James Version. Blue Letter Bible. 14 July 2006 (http://www.blueletterbible.org/).
- [27] "Good Question...: ... Does the Savagery of Predation in Nature Show That God Either Isn't, or at Least Isn't Good-Hearted?" A Christian Thinktank. 18 July 1999. 8 July 2006 (http://www.christian-thinktank.com/predator.html).
- [28] Hettinger, Ned. "Bambi Lovers versus Tree Huggers: A Critique of Rolston's Environmental Ethics." *Environmental Ethics* 16 (1994): 3-20.
- [29] Hobbs, Anthony. "Two New Alien Species!" The Church of the SubGenius. 2 July 2006 (http://www.subgenius.com/bigfist/ hallscience/X0088_Two_NEW_Alien_Specie.html).
- [30] Hounsome, Mike V. "Lifespan of Birds." 2003. Offwell Woodland & Wildlife Trust. 8 July 2006 (http: //www.offwell.free-online.co.uk/bird_lifespan.htm).
- [31] "How Much Is a Dollar Worth? The Case of Vegan Outreach." Utilitarian Essays. 4 July 2006. 9 July 2006 (http://www.utilitarian-essays.com/dollar-worth.pdf).
- [32] "An HSUS Report: The Welfare of Animals in the Meat, Egg, and Dairy Industries." *Humane Society of the United States.* 11 June 2006 (http://www.hsus.org/farm/resources/research/ welfare/welfare_overview.html).
- [33] "Humane Methods of Livestock Slaughter." Animal Legal and Historical Center. Michigan State University College of Law. 10 June 2006 (http: //www.animallaw.info/statutes/stusfd7usca1901.htm).
- [34] Hume, David. Dialogues Concerning Natural Religion. 12 Feb. 2002. Project Gutenberg. 4 July 2006 (http://www.gutenberg.org/etext/4583).

- [35] "Hunting: Kindness or Cruelty?" Conservation 8.3 (1984). Nova Scotia Department of Natural Resources. 16 July 2006 (http: //www.gov.ns.ca/natr/wildlife/conserva/08-03-1.htm).
- [36] "Insect Order Information." Bugscope. Beckman Institute for Advanced Science and Technology, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign. 6 July 2006 (http://bugscope.beckman. uiuc.edu/resources/insects/insectorders.htm).
- [37] Jackson, W. B. "Norway Rat and Allies." Wild Mammals of North America. Ed. J. A. Chapman and G. A. Feldhamer. Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press, 1982. 1077-88.
- [38] Jamieson, Dale. "Animal Liberation Is an Environmental Ethic." Environmental Values 7 (1998): 41-57. Nov. 1997. Dale Jamieson. Carleton College. 4 July 2006 (http://www.acad.carleton.edu/curricular/ENTS/faculty/ dale/dale_animal.html).
- [39] Kurzweil, Ray. The Age of Spiritual Machines: When Computers Exceed Human Intelligence. Penguin, 2000.
- [40] Lineweaver, Charles H. and Tamara M. Davis. "Does the Rapid Appearance of Life on Earth Suggest that Life is Common in the Universe?" Astrobiology 2.2 (2002): 293-304. arXiv.org. 15 July 2006 (http://www.arxiv.org/abs/astro-ph/0205014).
- [41] Lineweaver, Charles H., Yeshe Fenner, and Brad K. Gibson. "The Galactic Habitable Zone and the Age Distribution of Complex Life in the Milky Way." Science 303 (2004): 59-62. Charles H. Lineweaver - Publications. 15 July 2006 (http: //www.mso.anu.edu.au/~charley/publications.html).
- [42] Matheny, Gaverick and Kai M. A. Chan. "Human Diets and Animal Welfare: The Illogic of the Larder." Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics 18 (2005): 579-94. Kai Chan - Home. Institute for Resources, Environment and Sustainability. 9 July 2006 (http://www.ires.ubc.ca/personal/kaichan/articles/ Matheny_and_Chan_2005_JAEE.pdf).
- [43] Mathews, Freya. For Love of Matter: A Contemporary Panpsychism. State University of New York Press, 2003.
- [44] Mautner, Michael N. "Directed Panspermia: Technical Considerations - Strategies and Motivation for Seeding Star-Forming Clouds." Journal of the British Interplanetary Society 50 (1997): 93-102. Society for Life in Space. 14 July 2006 (http://www.panspermia-society.com/Panspermia_ Technical.htm).

- [45] Meot-Ner, M. and G. L. Matloff. "Directed Panspermia A Technical and Ethical Evaluation of Seeding Nearby Solar Systems." Journal of the British Interplanetary Society 32 (1979): 419-23. Abstract at NASA Astrophysics Database System. 14 July 2006 (http://adsabs.harvard.edu/abs/1979JBIS...32..419M).
- [46] Messmer, Terry A., Robert W. Seabloom, Richard D. Crawford, Karen L. Kriel, and Ron A. Stromstad. "Raccoon (*Procyon lotor*)." University of North Dakota. 8 July 2006 (http://www.und.nodak.edu/org/ndwild/raccoon.html).
- [47] Mill, John Stuart. "Nature." Classical Utilitarianism Web Site. Liberal Arts Computer Lab of the University of Texas at Austin. 4 July 2006 (http://www.la.utexas.edu/research/ poltheory/mill/three/nature.html).
- [48] Motavalli, Jim. "Across the Great Divide: Environmentalists and Animal Rights Activists Battle Over Vegetarianism." E: The Environmental Magazine 13.1 (2002). EMagazine.com Jan./Feb. 2002. 4 July 2006 (http://www.emagazine.com/view/?145).
- [49] - -. "The Case Against Meat: Evidence Shows that Our Meat-Based Diet is Bad for the Environment, Aggravates Global Hunger, Brutalizes Animals and Compromises Our Health." E: The Environmental Magazine 13.1 (2002). EMagazine.com Jan./Feb. 2002. 4 July 2006 (http://www.emagazine.com/view/?145).
- [50] - ... "Our Agony Over Animals." E: The Environmental Magazine 6.5 (1995): 28-?.
- [51] Mott, Maryann. "U.S. Facing Feral-Dog Crisis [page 2]." National Geographic News 21 August 2003. National Geographic Society. 8 July 2006 (http://news.nationalgeographic.com/ news/2003/08/0821_030821_straydogs_2.html). I assume here that most dogs killed on roads are feral dogs.
- [52] Naess, Arne. "Should We Try To Relieve Clear Cases of Extreme Suffering in Nature?" Pan Ecology 6.1 (1991).
- [53] Ng, Yew-Kwang. "Towards Welfare Biology: Evolutionary Economics of Animal Consciousness and Suffering." *Biology and Philosophy* 10.4 (1995): 255-85.
- [54] "Opossum General Information." Opossum Society of the United States. 2003. 8 July 2006
 (http://www.opossumsocietyus.org/opossum.html).

[55]	"Order Diptera." Oklahoma State University Center for Veterinary Health Sciences. 6 July 2006 (http://www.cvm. okstate.edu/instruction/kocan/vpar5333/533ot5aa.htm)
[56]	Panaman, Roger. "Predation." Brute Ethics - The Animal

- Ethics Encyclopedia. 15 July 2006 (http://www.animalethics.org.uk/aec-p-entries.html).
- [57] Peacocke, Arthur. "The Cost of New Life." The Work of Love: Creation as Kenosis. Ed. John Polkinghorne. Grand Rapids, MI: Wm. B. Eerdmans Publishing Company, 2001. Accessed from Metanexus Institute. 16 July 2006 (http://www.metanexus. net/metanexus_online/show_article2.asp?id=6965).
- [58] Pearce, David. The Hedonistic Imperative. 8 July 2006 (http://hedweb.com/).
- [59] "Principles of Panbiotic Ethics." Society for Life in Space. 14 July 2006 (http: //www.panspermia-society.com/Panspermia_Ethics.htm).
- [60] "Rene Descartes." Wikiquote. 8 July 2006 (http://en.wikiquote.org/wiki/Ren%C3%A9_Descartes).
- [61] Sapontzis, Steve F. "Predation." *Ethics and Animals* 5.2 (1984): 27-38.
- [62] "Senate Votes to Allow Drilling in Alaska's Arctic National Wildlife Refuge." AWI Quarterly 54.2 (2005): 4-5. Spring 2005. Animal Welfare Institute. 4 July 2006 (http://www.awionline. org/pubs/Quarterly/05_54_2/05_Spring.pdf).
- [63] "So Many Insects." The Manduca Project. 14 Oct. 2003. The University of Arizona. 12 July 2006 (http://insected.arizona.edu/manduca/ins_many.html).
- [64] Sullivan, Mark. "Research on the Fly: Biologist O'Connor Says the Little Drosophila May Tell Us a Lot about the Human Aging Process." Boston College Chronicle 10.11 (2002). Boston College. 6 July 2006 (http://www.bc.edu/bc_org/rvp/pubaf/ chronicle/v10/f14/oconnor.html).
- [65] "Terraforming Mars." Mars Team Online. NASA Quest. 14 July 2006

(http://quest.nasa.gov/mars/background/terra.html).

- [66] "Timeline of Evolution." Wikipedia. 14 July 2006. 15 July 2006 (http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Timeline_of_evolution).
- [67] Tomasik, Brian. "The Predominance of Wild-Animal Suffering over Happiness: An Open Problem." Essays on Reducing

44

Suffering. (http://utilitarian-essays.com/wild-animals.pdf).

- [68] Wallace, Alfred Russel. "Is Nature Cruel? The Purpose and Limitations of Pain." The World of Life. 1910. Charles H. Smith. The Alfred Russel Wallace Page. 25 May 2006. Western Kentucky University. 20 July 2006 (http://www.wku.edu/~smithch/wallace/S732CH19.htm).
- [69] Warrick, Joby. "They Die Piece by Piece': In Overtaxed Plants, Humane Treatment of Cattle Is Often a Battle Lost." Washington Post 10 Apr. 2001: B8. "They Die Piece by Piece' - The Washington Post." Humane Farming Association. 10 July 2006 (http://www.hfa.org/hot_topic/wash_post.html).
- [70] WorldWatch Magazine editors. "Meat: Now, It's Not Personal! But Like It or Not, Meat-Eating Is Becoming a Problem for Everyone on the Planet." Excerpted from WorldWatch Magazine 17.4 (2004). 15 June 2004. WorldWatch Institute. 4 July 2006. Available at

(https://www.worldwatch.org/node/549) with registration.